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Independent Auditors’ Report 

 

To the Board of Directors of Topco Technologies Corporation:   
 

Opinion 

We have audited the parent-company-only financial statements of Topco Technologies 

Corporation(“the Company”), which comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 

and the statement of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended 

December 31, 2018 and 2017, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies. 
 

In our opinion, the accompany parent-company-only financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and its financial 

performance and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 in accordance with 

the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers. 
 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the “Regulations Governing Auditing and Attestation of 

Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants” and the auditing standards generally accepted 

in the Republic of China. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 

independent of the company accordance with the Certified Public Accounts Code of Professional 

Ethics in Republic of China(“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with the Coed. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion. 
 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context 

of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 

provide a separate opinion on these matters. Key audit matters for the Company's financial statements 

are stated as follows: 
 

1.Valuation of Inventories 

Please refer to Note 4 (g) Inventory of the individual financial statements for details of the 

accounting policy concerning inventory evaluation, Note 5 of the individual financial statements for 

uncertainties in the inventory valuation, and Note 6 (g) Inventory of the individual financial 

statements for the explanation of inventory. 

The Company measured the cost and net realizable value of inventory. Since the principal business 

of the Company is the import and export of chemical material-related commodities, there is a risk 

that the book value of inventory may exceed its net realizable value because of the fluctuation of the 

commodity sales price due to changes in the supply and market competition. Inventory valuation is 

therefore one of the important valuation items in our financial statement audit.  
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How the matter is address in our audit: 

Our main audit procedures of the above-mentioned key audit matters include examining whether 

the inventory valuation policy of the Company is handled in accordance with the requirements of 

the IAS2. In addition, the inventory age report is reviewed, the age changes of inventory of each 

period are checked, an interval classification test of the inventory age report is performed, and a 

spot-check process is performed to check the sales prices adopted by the Company and assess the 

reasonableness of the net realization value of inventory. 
 

2.Valuation of Receivables 

Please refer to Note 4(vi)(f) Amortization of Financial Assets of the financial statements for the 

accounting policies concerning the valuation of receivables, Note 5 of the financial statements for 

uncertainties in the valuation of receivables, Note 6(e) Notes and Accounts Receivables and 

Other Receivables of the financial statements for the explanation of valuation of receivables. 
 

Description of the Key Audit Matters: 

The valuation of receivables is based on lifetime expected credit loss of objective evidence 

showing the recoverability of accounts receivables, so that the provision for losses can be made 

accordingly. Due to the large number of customers of the Company, the recoverability of 

receivables is affected by factors such as the customers’ operating conditions, external industrial 

environment and economic conditions. Therefore, the valuation of receivables is one of the 

important valuation items for our audit of the financial statements.  
 

How the matter is address in our audit: 

Our main audit procedures of the key audit matters above include examining whether the 

valuation policy of the receivables of the Company is handled in accordance with the 

requirements of the Communiqué, understanding the overdue reasons and the status of the 

after-sales collections for accounts with long overdue days, and assessing the reasonableness of 

the management's estimates of allowances for receivables. 
  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and 

for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’ s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 

to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

Those charged with governance (including the Supervisors) are responsible for overseeing the 

Company’s financial reporting process. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China, 

we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 

also: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 

of internal control. 

2.  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 

as a going concern.  

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

6. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the investment in 

other entities accounted for using the equity method to express an opinion on this financial 

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We 

remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

related safeguards. 
 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 

the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 

that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 

would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

The engagement partners on the audits resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Jui-Lan, Lo 

and I-Wen, Wang. 

 

KPMG 

Taipei, Taiwan(Republic of China) 

March 4, 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes to Readers 

 

The accompanying financial statements are intended only to present the statements of financial position, financial 

performance and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the Republic of China and not 

those of any other jurisdictions. The standards, procedures and practices to review such financial statements are those 

generally accepted and applied in the Republic of China. 

 

The independent auditors’ report and the accompanying financial statements are the English translation of Chinese version 

prepared and used in Republic of China. If there is any conflict between, or any difference in the interpretation of English 

and Chinese language auditors’ report and financial statements, the Chinese version shall prevail. 
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(English Translation of Financial Statements and Reporting Originally Issued in Chinese) 

Topco Technologies Corporation 
Balance Sheet 

December 31, 2018 and 2017 
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF NEW TAIWAN DOLLARS) 

 

  December 31,2018  December 31,2017   December 31, 2018 

 

 December 31, 2017 

 Assets Amount  %  Amount  %  Liabilities and Owner’s Equity Amount  %  Amount  % 

 Current assets:         Current liabilities:        

1100 Cash and cash equivalents (note 6(a)) $ 372,193  9  $  343,847  9 2170 Notes and accounts payable $25,931       2  $ 33,598  1 

1110 Current financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss (note 6(b)) 

18  1  30,406  1 2180 Notes and accounts payables - 

Related parties (note7) 

362,899  9  366,782  10 

1170 Notes and accounts receivable, net 

(note 6(e)) 

711,830  17  728,764  19 2200 Other payables (note 7) 293,319  7  209,404  5 

1180 Accounts receivables from related 

parties, net (notes 6(e) and 7) 

108,945  3  100,156  3 2230 Current tax liabilities 50,015  1  24,322  1 

1476 Other current financial assets (notes 

6(6) and 7) 

3,545  -  3,455  - 2130 Current contract liabilities(note 

6(q)) 

1,309  -  -  - 

1300 Inventories- Merchandising (note 6(g)) 235,423  6  182,166  5 2300 Other current liabilities -  -  9,208  - 

1470 Other current assets (note 7) 3,491  -  2,652  -   733,473  19  643,314  17 

  1,435,445  35  1,391,446  37  Non-current liabilities:        

          Deferred tax liabilities (note 

6(m)) 

86,666  2  71,544  2 

 Non-current assets:        2570 Total liabilities $820,139  21  $714,858  19 

1517 Non-current financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive income 
 

190,741 

  

5 

  

- 

  

- 

         

        

1523 Non-current available-for-sale 

financial assets (note6(d)) 

-  -  174,185  5  

3100 

Equity: 

Capital stock (note 6(n)) 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

640,610 16 641,060 17 

1550 Investment using equity method (note 

6(h)) 

2,354,774  58  2,124,671  56 3200 Capital surplus (notes 6(n) and 

6(o)) 

954,075  23  986,344  26 

1600 Property, plant and equipment (note 6(i)) 78,863  2  76,459  2 3300 Retained earnings (note 6(n)) 1,688,012  41  1,457,592  39 

1975 Net defined benefit asset - non-current 

(note6(l)) 

2,119  -  2,516  - 3400 Other equity interest (note 6(o)) (29,971)  (1)  (20,203)  (1) 

1840 Deferred tax assets (note 6(m)) 4,013  -  3,212  -          

1900 Other non-current assets 6,910  -  7,112  -  Total equity 3,252,726  79  3,064,743  81 

  2,637,420  65  2,388,155  63          

 Total Assets $ 4,072,865  100  $ 3,779,601  100  Total liabilities and equity $4,072,865  100  $3,779,601  100 

 
(Please see the accompanying notes to the financial statements.)
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(English Translation of Financial Statements and Reporting Originally Issued in Chinese) 

Topco Technologies Corporation 

Comprehensive Income Statement 

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

 (Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except for Earnings Per Common Shares) 

 

(Please see the accompanying notes to the financial statements.) 

  2018  2017 

  Amount  %  Amount  % 

4100 Operating revenue  ( notes 6(g) and 7) $3,376,111  100  $ 3,040,240  100 

5000 Operating costs (notes 6(d) and 7) 2,653,103  79   2,454,788  81 

 Gross profit 723,008  21  585,452  19 

5910 Unrealized profit (loss) from sales (608)  -  (770)  - 

  722,400  21  584,682  19 

 Operating expenses (notes 6(h), 6(i), 6(l), 7 and 12):        

6100 Selling expenses 253,105  7  219,933  7 

6200 Administrative expenses 230,899  7  187,788  6 

6450 Impairment loss (impairment gain and reversal of impairment 

loss) determined in accordance with IFRS 9 

 

(47) 

  

- 

  

- 

  

- 

  483,957  14  407,721  13 

 Net operating income 238,443  7  176,961  6 

 Non-operating income and expenses:        

7100 Interest revenue 648  -  566  - 

7230 Foreign exchange gains(losses) 3,285  -  (7,853)  - 

7235 Gains on financial assets (liabilities) at fair value through profit 

or loss 

(522)  -  867  - 

7375 Share of income of subsidiaries, affiliates and joint ventures 

recognized by equity method 

282,071  8  218,543  7 

7510 Interest expense (81)  -  (30)  - 

7670 Impairment loss -  -  (23,400)  (1) 

7020 Other interests and losses (note 7) 14,675  -  15,198  - 

  300,076  8  203,891  6 

7900 Income before income tax 538,519  15  380,852  12 

7950 Less: Income tax expense (note 6 (j)) 75,277  2  30,714  1 

8200 Net income $  463,242  13  $  350,138  11 

8300 Other comprehensive income :        

8310 Components of other comprehensive income that will not be 

reclassified to profit or loss 

       

8311 Remeasurements of defined benefit plans  (note 6 (i)) 182  -  (448)  - 

8349 Less: Income tax related to components of other comprehensive 

income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (Note 6 (i)) 

-  -  -  - 

  182  -  (448)  - 

8360 Components of other comprehensive income that will be 

reclassified to profit or loss 

       

8361 Exchange differences on translation of financial statements  (19,579)  (1)  (59,721)  (2) 

8362 Unrealized gains (losses) on valuation of available-for-sale 

financial assets 

-  -  73,567  2 

8363 Gains(Loss)on financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 

16,556  -     

8380 Shares of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries, 

associates and joint ventures accounted for using equity method 

230  -  (800)  - 

8300 Total other comprehensive income (2,611)  (1)  12,598  - 

8500 Total comprehensive income $  460,631  12  $  362,736  11 

 Earnings per share (in dollars),(note 6 (m))：        

9750 Basic earnings per share  $     7.41    $     5.65   

9850 Diluted earnings per share  $     7.32    $     5.47   
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(English Translation of Financial Statements and Reporting Originally Issued in Chinese) 

Topco Technologies Corporation 

Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 
(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 
      Retained earnings    Other equity interests   
 

 Capital  

Capital 

surplus  

legal 

reserve 

 

Special 

reserve 

 

Unappropriated 
retained 

earnings 

 

Total 

 

Exchange 

differences 
on 

translation of 

foreign 
financial 

statements 

 Unrealized gains 

(losses) on 

financial assets 
measured at fair 

value through 

other 
comprehensive 

income 

 

Unrealized 

gains or 
losses on 

available-f

or-sale  
financial 

asset 

 

Unearned 
compensation 

for restricted 

employee 
shares of 

stock 

 

Others 

 

Total other 

equity 

interests 

 

Total 

equity 
Balance on January 1, 2017  $641,010  986,645  467,405  6,363  890,538  1,364,306  (24,746)  -  7,464  (38,633)  458  (55,457)  2,936,554 
Appropriation of earnings:                           
Legal reserve  -  -  29,005  -  (29,005)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Special reserve  -  -  -  10,461  (10,461)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Cash dividend for common stock  -  -  -  -  (256,404)  (256,404)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (256,404) 

Retirement of employees restricted shares  (50)  (301)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  236  -  236  (115) 

Compensation cost of issuing restricted 

employee shares 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  21,972  -  21,972  21,972 

  641,010  986,344  496,410  16,824  594,668  1,107,902  (24,746)  -  7,464  (16,425)  458  (33,249)  2,702,007 
Net profit for the period  -  -  -  -  350,138  350,138  -  -  -  -  -  -  350,138 

Other comprehensive income (loss)  -  -  -  -  (448)  (448)  (59,721)  -  73,567  -  (800)  13,046  12,598 
Total comprehensive income for the period  -  -  -  -  349,690  349,690  (59,721)  -  73,567  -  (800)  13,046  362,736 

Balance on December 3 1,2017  641,010  986,344  496,410  16,824  944,358  1,457,592  (84,467)  -  81,031  (16,425)  (342)  (20,203)  3,064,743 

Effects of retrospective application          23,400  23,400    57,631  (81,031)  -    (23,400)  - 
Balance at January 1, 2018 after adjustments  641,010  986,344  496,410  16,824  967,758  1,480,992  (84,467)  57,631  -  (16,425)  (342)  (43,603)  3,064,743 

Appropriation and distribution of earnings:                           
Legal reserve  -  -  35,014    (35,014)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Special reserve  -  -  -  (10,461)  10,461  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Cash dividends of ordinary share          (256,404)  (256,404)  -  -           
Cash dividends from capital surplus  -  (38,461)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (38,461) 

Compensation cost of issuing shares  -  8,600  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  8,600 

Retirement of employees restricted shares  (400)  (2,408)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,888  -  1,888  (920) 

Compensation cost of issuing restricted 

employee shares 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  14,537  -  14,537  14,537 

  640,610  954,075  531,424   6,363

  

 686,801  1,224,588  (84,467)  57,631  -  -  (342)  (27,178)  2,792,095 

Net income  -  -  -  -  463,242  463,242  -    -  -  -  -  463,242 
Other comprehensive income (loss)  -  -  -  -  182  182  (19,579)  16,556  -  -  230  (2,793)  (2,611) 

Total comprehensive income   -  -  -  -  463,424  463,424  (19,579)  16,556  -  -  230  (2,793)  460,631 

Balance on December 3 1,2018  $640,610  954,075  531,424  6,363  1,150,225  1,688,012  (104,046)  74,187  -  -  (112)  (29,971)  3,252,726 

 

 (Please see the accompanying notes to the financial statements.)
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 (English Translation of Financial Statements and Reporting Originally Issued in Chinese) 

Topco Technologies Corporation 

Statement of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 
(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 
 2018  2017 

Cash flows from operating activities:    

Income before income tax $ 538,519  $ 380,852 

Adjustments :    

Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss)    

Depreciation expense 1,953  2,383 

Amortization expense 639  353 

Bad debts Expense(reversal of bad debts) (47)  (90) 

Net loss (gain) on financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 30,388  (254) 

Impairment loss -  23,400 

Interest revenue (648)  (566) 

Interest expense 81  30 

Share-based payments 23,137  21,972 

Share of loss (profit) of associates and joint ventures accounted for using equity method (282,071)  (218,543) 

(Unrealized) profit (loss) from sales 608  770 

Total adjustments to reconcile profit (loss) (225,960)  (170,545) 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:    

Change in operating assets:    

Decrease (increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss -  (30,201) 

Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable (including related parties) 8,192  (118,544) 

Decrease (increase) in other financial assets (90)  249 

Decrease (increase) in inventory (53,257)  (11,400) 

Decrease (increase) in other current assets (839)  348 

Others 579  558 

 (45,415)  (158,990) 

Change in operating liabilities:    

Increase (decrease) in notes and accounts payable (including related parties) (11,550)  34,671 

Increase (decrease) in other accounts payable and other current liabilities 74,707  58,681 

Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities-current 1,309  - 

 64,466  93,352 

Total change in operating assets and liabilities 19,051  (65,638) 

Total adjustments (206,909)  (236,183) 

Cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 331,610  144,669 

Interests received 648  566 

Dividends received 32,011  27,439 

Interests paid (81)  (30) 

Income tax paid (35,263)  (22,402) 

Net cash inflows (used in) from operating activities 328,925  150,242 

Cash flows from(used in) investment activities:    

Acquisition of financial assets available for sale – non-current -  (4,954) 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (4,357)  (216) 

Decrease (increase) in guarantee deposits (26)  1,470 

Decrease (increase) in other prepayments (411)  (639) 

Net cash inflows (used in) from investment activities (4,794)  (4,339) 

Cash flows from(used in)financing activities:    

Distribution of cash dividend (294,865)  (256,404) 

Return of Restricted Stock Awards (RSA) (920)  (115) 

Net cash flows from financing activities (295,785)  (256,519) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the period 28,346  (110,616) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 343,847  454,463 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period $372,193  $343,847 

(Please see the accompanying notes to the financial statements.)
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(English Translation of Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

Topco Technologies Corporation 

Notes to Financial Statements  

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

 (Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Otherwise Specified) 

 

(1) Company history 

Topco Technologies Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated in February 1994, as a company 

limited by shares under the law of Republic of China(R.O.C) . Its register address is 14F., No.102, 

Sec. 4, Civic Blvd., Da’an Dist., Taipei City 106, Taiwan (R.O.C.). It was formerly named as 

Topview Technologies. On July 1, 2004, it absorbed Topco Trading Co., Ltd and was renamed as 

Topco Technologies Corp. The electronic group producing and merchandising safety monitor was 

then spinoff from Topco as new organization on October 1, 2010. The main operating items of the 

Company is import and export business of products related to chemical materials and business of 

general trading activities. 

(2) Approval date and procedures of the financial statements  

The accompanying financial statements of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2018 

and 2017 were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 4, 2019. 

(3) New standards, amendments and interpretations   

(a) The impact of the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) endorsed by the 

Financial Supervisory Commission, R.O.C. (“FSC”) which have already been adopted. 
 

The following new standards, interpretations and amendments have been endorsed by the 

FSC and effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,2018. 

 
New ,Amended or Revised Standards and Interpretations 

Effective date 

per IASB 
 

Amendments to IFRS 2, “Classification and Measurement of Share-based 

Payment Transactions” 

January 1, 2018 

 
Amendments to IFRS 4, “Applying IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' with IFRS 

4 'Insurance Contracts'” 

January 1, 2018 

 
IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” January 1, 2018 

 
IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” January 1, 2018 

 
Amendments to IAS 7, “Disclosure Initiative” January 1, 2017 

 
Amendments to IAS 12, “Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized 

Losses” 

January 1, 2017 

 
Amendments to IAS 40, “Transfers of Investment Property” January 1, 2018 

 
The annual improvement of IFRS 2014-2016 cycle:  

 
Amendments to IFRS 12 January 1, 2017 

 
Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 January 1, 2018 

 
IFRIC 22, “Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration” January 1, 2018 



TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Except for the following items, the Company believes that the adoption of above IFRSs would not 

have any material impact on its consolidated financial statements. The extent and impacts of 

signification changes are as follows: 

 

(i)  IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” 

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determing weather, how much and 

when revenue is recognized. It replaces the existing revenue recognition guidance, 

including IAS 18”Revenue” and IAS 11”Construction Contracts”. The Company applies 

this standard restrospectively with the cumulative effect, it need not restate those contracts, 

but instead, continue to apply IAS 11, IAS 18 and the related Interpretations for 

comparative reporting period. The Company recognize the cumulative effect upon the 

initially application of this Standard as an adjustment to opening balance of retained 

earnings on Janiary 1,2018. 
 

The following are the nature and impacts on changing of accounting policies： 
 

1) Sale of goods 

Regarding the Company’s sale of goods, currently we recognize revenue when meeting 

the criteria that we promise with customers. According to the existing accounting 

standards, we recognize revenue when persuasive evidence exists (usually by signing 

the sales agreement), when the significant risk and reward in the ownership of goods are 

transferred to the buyer, when the amount is very likely to be recovered, when the 

transaction-related cost and return of goods that has occurred or is about to occur can be 

reliably measured, when we neither continues to participate in the management nor 

maintains effective control on the goods sold, and when the revenue can be reliably 

measured. Under IFRS 15, revenue will be recognized when a customer obtains control 

of the goods. 

          2) Impacts on financial statements 

The following tables summarize the impacts of adopting IFRS 15 on the financial 

statements: 
  Dcember 31, 2018 January 1, 2018 

 

Impacted items in the consolidated 

balance sheet 

Balances 

prior to the 

adoption of 

IFRS15 

Impact of 

changes in 

accounting 

policies 

Balances 

upon 

adoption of 

IFRS15 

Balances 

prior to the 

adoption of 

IFRS15 

Impact of 

changes in 

accounting 

policies 

Balances 

upon 

adoption of 

IFRS15 

 Contract liability -non-current $ -   1,309   1,309   -   9,180   9,180  

 Other current liabilities   1,309   (1,309)   -   9,208   (9,180)   28  

 Affected liabilities   -     -   
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  For the year ended December 31, 2018 

 Impacted items in the consolidated statement of cash flow 

Balances prior 

to the adoption 

of IFRS15 

Impact of 

changes in 

accounting 

policies 

Balances 

upon 

adoption of 

IFRS15 

 Net income before tax for the current period    

 Adjustments: $ 538,519   -   538,519  

 Increase (Decrease) of contract liabilities - current    

 Increase (Decrease) of other payables and other current 

liabilities 
 -   1,309   1,309  

 Impacted cash inflows (outflows) from operating activities  
 76,016    

 
     (1,309)    

 
   74,707    

 Net income before tax for the current period   -   

(ii) IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”  

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” which 

contains classification and measurement of financial Instruments and impairment. 

Since IFRS9 has been adopted, the Company adopts the revised IAS 1, “Presentation of 

Financial Statements”. The Standard requires impairment of financial assets to be 

recognized and reported as a single item in the comprehensive income statement. The 

Company recognized the impairment of account receivables as administrative expense 

previously. In addition, the Company adopted the consequential amendments to IFRS7 

“Financial Instruments: Disclosures” that are applied to disclosure about 2018 but 

generally have not been applied to comparative information. 
 

The detail of new significant accounting policies and the nature and effect of the changes 

to previous accounting policies are set out below: 

1) Classification of financial assets and liabilities 

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financeial assets: measured 

at amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair 

value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets under IFRS9 

is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its 

contractual cash flow characterics. The standard eliminates the previous IAS39 

catagories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale. Under IFRS9, 

derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scop of the 

standard are never bifurcated. For an examplanation of how the Company classifies and 

measures financial assets and accounts for related gains and losses under IFRS 9, please 

see Notes 4(f) for details. 

The adoption of IFRS 9 did not have any a significant impact on its accounting policies 

of financial liabilities. 
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2) Impairments of financial assets 

IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in IAS39 with the “expected credit loss” 

(ECL) model. The new impairment model applies to financial assets evaluated at 

amortized cost, contract assets and debt investments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income, but not to investments in equity instrument. Under IFRS9, the 

credit losses are recognized earlier than thay are under IAS39. Please see Note 4(g) for 

details. 

3) Transition 

The adoption of IFRS 9 has been applied retrospectively, except as described blow: 

‧Differences in the carring amount of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting 

from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognized in retained earnings and other equity on 

January 1, 2018.Accordingly, the information presented in 2017 does not generally 

reflect the requirements of IFRS9. Thus, they are not comparable with the information 

disclosed under IFRS 9 in 2018. 

‧The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances 

that existed at the date of initial application: 

– The determination of the business model within which the financial asset is held. 

– The designation and revocation of previous designation of the financial assets and 

liabilities as measured at FVTPL. 

– The designation of certain investments in equity instruments not held for trading as 

at FVOCI. 

‧If the debt security investment had low credit risk at the date of initial application of 

IFRS9, then the Company assumed that the credit risk on its asset will not increase 

significantly since its initial recognition. 

4) Classification of financial assets on the date of initial application of IFRS 9 

The following table shows the original measurement categories under IAS39 and 

the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 foe each class of the Company’s 

financial assets as January 1, 2018. 
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  IAS39 IFRS9 

  
Measurement 

Categories 
Carring 
Amount 

Measurement 
Categories 

Carring 
Amount 

 Financial asset     

 Cash and cash equivalent Loans and receivables 

(Note 1) 

343,847 Amortized cost  343,847  

 Debt instruments Designated at fair value 

through profit or loss  

(Note 2) 

30,406 Mandatorily measured at 

fair value through 

profit or loss 

 30,406  

 Notes and accounts receivable 

(including related parties) 

Loans and receivables 

(Note 1) 

828,920 Amortized cost  828,920  

 Other financial assets--current (other 
receivables) 

Loans and receivables 

(Note 1) 

3,455 Amortized cost  3,455  

 Equity instrument investments Available-for-sale 

financial assets(Note 3) 

174,185 Fair Value through other 

comprehensive income 

 174,185  

 Other non-current assets 

(refundable deposit) 

Loans and receivables 

(Note 1) 

6,473 Amortized cost  6,473  

      

Note 1: Under IAS39, cash and cash equivalent, notes and accounts receivable, 

other receivable and refundable deposit are classified as loans and 

receivables. Now, they are classified as financial assets evaluated at 

amortized cost. At initial application of IFRS9, there is no need to 

additionally recognize cumulative impairment losses and adjust the 

retained earnings on Jan. 1, 2018. 

Note 2: Under IAS39, the debt instrument is designated at fair value through profit 

or loss. Since the Company manages based on fair value, the financial 

asset has been classified as evaluated at fair value through profit or loss in 

accordance with IFRS9. 

 

Note 3: The equity instruments (including the financial assets evaluated at cost) 

represent investments that the Company intends to hold for the long term 

for strategic purposes. As permitted by IFRS9, the Company has 

designated these investments at the date of initial application as measured 

at FAOCI. Accordingly, a decrease of $23,400 in other equity and an 

increase of $23,400 in retained earnings were recognized on January 1, 

2018, respectively. 
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The following tables reconcile the carring amount of financial assets under IAS39 to the 

carring amounts under IFRS 9 upon transition toIFRS 9 on January 1,2018： 

  2017.12.31   2018.1.1 2018.1.1 2018.1.1 

  

IAS 39 

Carring 

Amount 

Re- 

classifications 

Re- 

evaluations 

IFRS 9 

Carring 

Amount 

Adjustment 

amount of 

retained 

earnings 

Adjustment 

amount of 

other 

equities 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 

                  

Beginning balance of FVOCI( IAS 39) 
$ 174,185   -   -   -   -   -  

Equity instrument investments: 
                  

From available for sale 
 -   174,185   -   -   23,400   (23,400)  

Reclassified as evaluated at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 

                  

Total 
 -   (174,185)   -   -   -   -  

 
$ 174,185   -   -   174,185   23,400   (23,400)  

        

(iii) Amendments to IAS 7, “Disclosure Initiative” 

The amendments require discloures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate 

changes in liabilities arising from financial activities, including both changes arising 

from cash flow and non-cash changes. 

To satisfy the new disclosure requirements, the Company presents a reconciliation 

between the opening and closing balances for liabilities with changes arising from 

financing activities as Note 6(v). 

(b) The impact of IFRS issued by IASB but not yet endorsed by the FSC 

The following new standards, interpretations and amendmends have been endorsed by the 

FSC and are effected for annual period beginning on or after January 1, 2019 in accordance 

with Ruling No.1070324857 issued by FSC on July 17, 2018 :  

 

New, Amended or Revised Standards and Interpretations 

Effective date 

per IASB 
 IFRS 16, “Leases” January 1, 2019 

 IFRIC 23, “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” January 1, 2019 

 Amendments to IFRS 9, “Prepayment Features with Negative 
Compensation” 

January 1, 2019 

 Amendments to IAS 19, “Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement” January 1, 2019 

 Amendments to IAS 28, “Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint 
Ventures” 

January 1, 2019 

 The annual improvement of IFRS 2015-2017 cycle January 1, 2019 
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Except for the following items, application of the aboved IFRS will not cause significant 

impact on the consolidated financial statements. The extent and impact of the significant 

changes are as below: 

(i) IFRS 16, “Leases” 

IFRS 16 replaces the existing lease guidance, including IAS 17 “Lease”,IFRIC 4 

“Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease” ,SIC-15 “Operating Leases – 

Incentives” and SIC 27, “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions in the Legal Form of 

a Lease.” 

IFRS16 introduces a single and an on-balance sheet lease accounting model for leases. A 

lease recognizes a right-of-use asset represating its right to use the underlying asset and a 

lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. In addition, the 

expenses related to the lease will now be changed since IFRS 16 replaces the straight-line 

operating lease expense with a depreciation charge foe right-to-use assets and interest 

expense on lease liabilities. There are recognition examptions for short-term leases and 

lease of low-value items. The accounting principles regarding the lessor remain similar to 

the existing Standards. That is, the lessor shall still classify lease into operating lease or 

finance lease. 
 

1) Determing wheather an arrangement contains to lease 

On transition to IFRS16, the Company can choose to apply either of the following: 

‧apply IFRS 16 definition of a lease to all contracts; or 

‧apply a pratical expendient that does not need any reassessment weather a contract is, 

or contains, a lease. 

The Company expects to adopt expedient procedures and exempt from the re-evaluation 

of lease definition during the transfer. This meas the Company will identify the 

contracts it entered into before January 1,2019 as lease in accordance with IAS17 and 

IFRIC 4. 
 

2) Transition 

As a lease, the Company can either apply the standard using the following: 

‧restropective approach；or 

‧modified restropective approach with optional practical expedients 
 

On January 1, 2019 the Company plans to initially apply IFRS16 using the modified 

restropective approach. Accordingly, the cumulative effects of adopting IFRS16 will be 

recognized as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at January 1, 

2019, with no restatement of comparative information. 
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When applying the modified retrospective approach to lease previously claasified as 

operating lease under IAS17, the lease can elect, on a lease-by-lease basis, weather to 

apply a number of pratical expendients on transition. The Company assessment adopts 

the following practical expediencies: 

‧Targeting lease portfolios with similar characteristics, a single discount rate shall 

apply； 

‧Just before the first applicable date, the IAS37 Onerous Contract assessment results 

shall serve as the alternative method for assessing appropriate rights asset 

impairment. 

‧Targeting leases to expire within twelve months after the first appropriative date 

during the lease period, appropriative right assets and lease obligations applicable for 

exemptions without recognition. 

‧Not inclusive of original and direct costs in the appropriative right asset measurement 

on the first applicable date. 

‧The lease contract shall include the lease period determination through hindsight under 

a lease extension or termination option. 

 3) The material impact identified is that the Company will have to recognize the additional 

right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for its offices, public vehicles, and warehouse 

which were currently accounted for under the operating lease. The aforementioned 

impact would lead to the increase in right-of-use assets and lease liabilities by 45,651, 

respectively. The Company does not expect the adoption of IFRS16 to have any impact 

on its ability to comply with the maximum laverage threshold in the loan covenant.  
 

(ii) IFRIC 23, “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” 

In assessing wheather and how an uncertain tax treatment affects the determination of 

taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax credits, as well as tax rates, an entity shall 

assume that taxation authority will examine the amounts it has the right to examine and 

have a full knowledge on all related information when making those examinations. 

 

If an entity concludes that it is probable that the taxation authority will accept an 

uncetain tax treatment, the entity shall determine the tax profit(tax loss),tax bases, 

unused tax losses,unused tax credits, as well as tax rates consistently with the tax 

treatment used or planned to be used in its income tax filing.Otherwise, an entity shall 

reflect the effect of uncertainty for reach uncertain tax treatment by using either the most 

likely amount or the expected value, depending on which method the entity expects to 

better predict the resolution of the uncertainty. 
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Up to now, the Company has deferred income tax liabilities and retained earnings on 

January 1
st
, 2019 have not exerted a major influence. 

The aforementioned estimated situation of influence in the new bulletin may change with 

the future environment or situation. 

(c) The impact of IFRS issued by IASB but not yet endorsed by the FSC 

As of the date, the following IFRSs have been issued by the IASB, but have yet to be 

endorsed by the FSC: 

 

New ,Amended or Revised Standards and Interpretations 
Effective date 

per IASB 
 Amendments to IFRS 3, “Definition of a business” January 1, 2020 

 Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 — Sales or contributions of 
assets between an investor and its associate orjoint venture 

Effective date to 
be determined 
by IASB 

 IFRS 17, “Insurance Contracts” January 1, 2021 

 Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8— The definition of material.  January 1, 2020 

    

 

Those which may be relevant to the Company are set out below: 

 Issuance / 

Release Dates 
 

Standards or Interpretations 

 

Content of amendment 
 October 31,2018 Amendments to IAS 1 and 

IAS 8— The definition of 
material. 

Elaborate on the definition of materiality 
and how to apply the materiality 
guidelines mentioned in the existing 
criteria. Materiality definition related 
explanations are improved to ensure the 
consistency of materiality in all the 
criteria. 

    

The Company is evaluating the impact on its consolidated financial position and 

consolidated financial performance upon the initial adoption of the abovementioned 

standards or interpretations. The results thereof will be disclosed when the Company 

completes its evaluation. 

 

(4) Summary of significant accounting policies  

The significant accounting policies presented in the financial statements are summarized as 

follows. And the accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 

these financial statements.   

(a) Statement of compliance    

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 

Guidelines Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers. 
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(b) Basis of preparation    

(i) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis, except for the 

following material items in the statement of financial position. 

1) Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss, including derivative 

financial instrument 

2) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (Available-for-sale 

financial assets ) 

3) The net defined benefit liabilities are measured as the fair value of the plan assets, less 

the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the maximum number of 

influences mentioned in Note 4 (o). 

(ii) Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of the Company is determined based on the primary economic 

environment in which the entities operate. The consolidated financial statements are 

presented in New Taiwan Dollar, which is the Company’s functional currency. All 

financial information presented in New Taiwan Dollar has been rounded to the nearest 

thousand. 

(c) Foreign currency    

(i) Foreign currency transaction 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currency of 

the Company at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the 

functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on 

monetary assets and liabilities is the difference between amortized cost in the functional 

currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for the effective interest and payments 

during the period, and such assets and liabilities reported in foreign currency translated at 

the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Foreign currency denominated 

non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional 

currency at the exchange rate on the date when fair value was determined. Foreign 

currency denominated non-monetary items measured at historical cost is translated using 

the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on 

translation are recognized in profit or loss, except for the equity instrunment at fair value 

through other comprehensive income differences which are recognized in other 

comprehensive income arising on the transaction. 
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(ii) Foreign operating institutions 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value 

adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to the Company’ s functional currency at 

exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations, 

excluding foreign operations in hyperinflationary economies, are translated to the 

Company’s functional currency at average rate. Foreign currency differences are 

recognized in other comprehensive income. 

When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint 

control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign 

operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the 

Company disposes of any part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign 

operation while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is 

reattributed to non-controlling interest. When the Company disposes of only part of 

investment in an associate of joint venture that includes a foreign operation while retaining 

significant or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified 

to profit or loss. 
 

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation 

is neither planed nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign currency gains and losses 

arising from such items are considered to form part of a net investment in the foreign 

operation and are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

(d) Classification standard of current and non-current assets and liabilities   

An asset is classified as current under any one of the following conditions. All other assets 

are classified as non-current: 

i. It is expected to be realized, or intended to be sold or consumed, in the normal operating 

cycle; 

ii. It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

iii. It is expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

iv. The asset is cash and cash equivalent unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged or 

used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the balance sheet date.  

A liability is classified as current under any one of the following conditions. All other 

liabilities are classified as non-current. 
 

i. The liability is expected to be settled during the Company’s normal operating cycle; 

ii. The liability is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

iii. The liability is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or 
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The Company does not have any unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 

at least twelve months after the reporting period. Terms of a liability that could, at the 

option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by issuing equity instruments do not 

affect its classification. 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents   

Cash comprises cash on hand and cash in bank. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly 

liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Time deposits are held for the purpose of 

meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes are 

classified under cash equivalents. 

(f) Financial Instruments    

(i).Financial asset (applicable from January 1, 2018) 

Financial asset are classified into the following categories: measured at amortised cost, 

fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or 

loss (FVTPL). 

The Company shall reclassify all affected financial assets only when it changes its 

business model for managing its financial asset. 

1) Finacial asset measured at amortised cost 

A finacial asset is measured at cost if meets both of the following conditions and is not 

designated as at FVTPL： 

‧The financial asset is held under the business mode targeted at receiving contractual 

cash flows. 

‧All cash flows of specific date generated by the contract provisions of the financial 

asset are for paying the principal and interest of outstanding principal. 

A financial asset measured at amortised cost is initially recognized at fiar value plus any 

directly attributable transaction cost. These assets are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by 

impairment loses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and loses, and impairment 

losses are recognized in profir or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized 

in profit or loss. A regular way of purchase or sale of financial assets shall be 

recognized and derecognized, as applicable, using trade date accounting. 

 2) Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions 

and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
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‧it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

‧its contractual terms give rise on specific dates to cash flows that are soley payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company 

may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in 

othe comprehensive income. This election is made on an instrument-by-instrument 

basis. 

A financial asset measured at FVOCI is initially recognized at fiar value, plus any 

directly attributable transaction cost. These assets are subsequently measured at fair 

value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange 

gains and losses, and impairment losses, deriving from debt investments are recognized 

in profit or loss; whereas dividends deriving from equity investments are recognized as 

income in profit or loss, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the 

cost of investment. Other net gains and losses of financial assets measured at FVOCI are 

recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI of debt 

investments are reclassified to profit or loss. However, gains and losses accumulated in 

OCI of equity investments are reclassified to retained earnings instead of profit or loss. 

Dividend income derived from equity investments is recognized on the date that the 

Company’s right to receive payment is established, which in the case of quoted 

securities is normally the ex-dividend date. 

3) Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

All financial assets not classified as amortized cost or FVOCI described as above are 

measured at FVTPL, including derivative financial assets and accounts 

receivable.However, for those presented as account receivable but measured at FVTPL. 

On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset, which 

meets the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI, as at FVTPL if 

doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 

otherwise arise. 

Financial asset in this category are measured at fair value at initial recognition. 

Attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent 

changes that are measured at fair value, which take into account any dividend and 

interest income, are recognized in profit or loss. 

A regular way of purchase or sale of financial assets shall be recognized and 

derecognized, as applicable, using trade date accounting. 
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4) Assessment of operation mode 

The Company evaluates the aims of the operation mode of holding financial assets with 

combination level. This can mostly reflect management approach and the way of 

providing data to the management. The information taken into account includes: 

‧ The policy and goal of the mentioned investment portfolio and the operation of the 

policy. Including whether the management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual 

cash flows, maintaining specific interest yield portfolio, matching the duration of 

financial assets and the duration of related liabilities or expected cash outflows, or 

realizing cash flows by selling financial assets. 

‧ The performance of the operation mode and how to evaluate the financial assets held 

under the operation mode, and how to report to the business’ major management 

personnel. 

‧ The risk affecting the performance of the operation mode (and the financial assets held 

under the operation mode) and the management approach of the risk; 

‧ The frequency, dollar amount and time point of selling the financial assets in each of the 

previous period, the reasons for the sale and the expectation of future selling activities. 

According to the above-mentioned operation goal, if the transaction of transferring the 

financial asset to the third party does not meet the criteria of derecognition, then they 

are do not belong to the sales mentioned above. This is consistent with the Company’s 

aim of continuing recognizing the asset. 

Financial assets held for trading and financial assets managed and evaluated based on 

fair value are evaluated at fair value through income or loss. 

5) Assessment whether contractual cash flows are soley payment of principal and interests 

For the purpose of this assessment,’principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial 

assets on initial recognition.’Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of 

money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a 

particular period of time and for other basic leading risks and costs, as well as a profit 

margin. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 

interest, the Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes 

assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the 

timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In 

making this assessment, the Company considers: 

‧contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 

‧terms that may adjust the contractual upon rate, including variable rate features; 
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‧prepayment and extension; and 

‧terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets(e.g. 

non-recourse features) 

6) Impairment of financial assets 

The Company recognizes loss allowance regarding financial assets evaluated at 

amortized cost (including cash and cash equivalent, financial assets evaluated at 

amortized cost, note and account receivables, other receivables, refundable deposits and 

other financial assets, etc.), debt instrument investments evaluated at fair value through 

other comprehensive income, account receivables and expected credit loss of contract 

assets. 

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 

loss (ECL), except for the following which are measured as 12-month ECL: 

‧Determining that the credit risk of the debt security is low on the reporting day; and 

‧The credit risk of other debt securities, other receivable and bank deposits (i.e., the 

default risk of the financial instrument during its expected lifetime) has not 

significantly increased since initial recognition. 

The loss allowance of account receivables and contract assets are measured at an 

amount equal to lifetime ECL. 

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the 

expected life of a financial instrument. 

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible 

within the 12 months after the reporting date (or in a shorter period if the expected 

lifetime of the instrument is less than 12 months). 

The maximum period considered when eatimating ECLs is the maximum contractual 

period over which the Company is exposed in credit risk. 

When determining whether credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly 

since initial recognition and when eatimating ECL, the Company considers reasonable 

and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. 

This includes both qualitative and quantitative information and the analysis based on the 

Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment as well as 

forward-looking information. 

If the credit risk of the financial instrument is equivalent to the global definition of 

“investment grade” (which is, or higher than, the BBB rating -of S&P, the Baa3 rating 

of Moody’s or the twA rating of Taiwan Ratings), the Company regards the debt 

security as having low credit risk. 
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If the contract payment is more than 30 days past due, the Company would assume the 

credit risk of the financial asset has significantly increased. 

If the contract payment is more than 360 days past due, or if the borrower is not very 

likely to fulfill its obligation by paying the full amount to the Company, the Company 

would regard the financial asset as default. 

ELCs are the probability weighted estimate of credit loss. Credit losses are measured as 

the present value of all cash shortfalls. That is, it is the difference between the cash 

flows due to the Company in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the 

Company expects to receive. ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the 

financial asset. 

At each repotind date, the Company accesses whether the financial assets carried at 

amortized cost and debt securities at FVOCI are credit-impairmed. A financial asset is 

‘credit-impairmed’ when one or more events that have a determental impact on the 

estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.  

The evidence that the financial asset has realized credit-impairmened includes the 

observable data related to the following items: 

‧Significant financial difficulties of the borrower or the issuer 

‧Default, such as delay or overdue over 360 days; 

‧Due to the economic or contractual reason related to the borrower’s financial 

difficulties, the Company gives the borrower concession that it would not consider 

originally; 

‧The borrower is very likely to file for bankruptcy or engage in other financial 

restructurings; or 

‧The active market for the financial asset has disappeared due to financial difficulties. 

The asset loss allowance evaluated at amortized cost is deducted from the book value of 

the asset. The loss allowance or reversed amount is recognized in the income statement. 

For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is recognized in other comprehensive 

income instead of reducing the carring amounts of the assets. 

The gross carring amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to 

the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when 

the Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that 

could generate sufficient cach flows to repay amounts subject to the write-off.However, 

financial assets that are writen off still be subject enforcement activities in order to 

comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due. 

 

 



TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

27 

7) Derecognition of financial assets 

Financial aseets are derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

assets expire, or when the Company transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership of the financial assets. 
 

When the entire single debt instrument investment is derecognized, the difference 

between its book value and the total amount of the consideration that can be collected or 

has already been collected plus the amount recognized in other comprehensive income 

and accumulated in “other equity – unrealized gains or losses from financial assets 

evaluated at fair value through other comprehensive income” is recognized in the 

income statement and presented under non-operating revenue and expenditure. 
 

When the entire single debt instrument is not derecognized, the Company allocates the 

original book value of that financial asset to the part that is continuously recognized due 

to continued participation and the part that is d-recognized, on the basis of the relative 

fair value of each part on the transfer day. The difference between any cumulative gain 

from the consideration collected from the de-recognized part and the book value 

allocated to the part that is de-recognized, or the sum allocated to the de-recognized part 

in the loss, is recognized in the income statement, and presented in non-operating gains 

and expenditure. Cumulative gains or losses already recognized in other comprehensive 

income are allocated to the continuously recognized part and the de-recognized part, 

based on the relative fair value. 

(ii) Financial assets (applicable before January 1, 2018) 

The Company classifies financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss, loans , receivables and available-for-sale financial 

assets. 

1) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

The financial asstes is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. 

Financial asstes in this category are measured at fair value at initial recognition. 

Attributible transaction costs are recognized at profit and loss as incurred. Financial 

asstes at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value subsequently and 

changes therein, which takes into account any dividend and interest income, are 

recognized in profit or loss, and accounted for under other income. 

2) Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated 

as available-for-sale or are not classified in any of the other categories of financial 
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assets. Available-for-sale financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any 

directly attributable transaction cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are 

measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses, interest 

income calculated using the effective interest method, dividend income, and foreign 

currency differences on available-for -sale debt instruments, are recognized in other 

comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve in equity. When an 

investment is derecognized, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to 

profit or loss, under other income and other gains and losses of non-operating income 

and expense. A regular way of purchase or sale of financial assets shall be recognized 

and derecognized, as applicable, using trade date accounting. 

Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active 

market, and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, are measured at amortized 

cost, and are included in financial assets measured at cost. 

Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss on the date that the Company’s right to 

receive payment is established, which in the case of quoted securities is normally the 

ex-dividend date. Such dividend income is included in other income of non-operating 

income and expenses. 

3) Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables comprise trade receivables and 

other receivables. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value, plus, any directly 

attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, receivables are 

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment 

losses other than insignificant interest on short-term receivables. A regular way 

purchase or sale of financial assets is recognized and derecognized, as applicable, using 

trade date accounting. 

Interest income is recognized in profit or loss, under other income of non-operating 

income and expenses. 

4) Impairment of financial assets 

Except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets are 

assessed for impairment at each reporting date. A financial asset is impaired if, and only 

if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 

occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or 

events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can 

be estimated reliably. 
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Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes default or delinquency by 

a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Company on terms that the Company 

would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, 

adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers, economic conditions that 

correlate with defaults, or the disappearance of an active market for a security. In 

addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its 

fair value below its cost is considered objective evidence of impairment. 

All individually significant receivables are assessed for specific impairment. 

Receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment 

by Companying together assets with similar risk characteristics. In assessing collective 

impairment, the Company uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing 

of recoveries, and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgment as 

to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are 

likely to be greater or less than those suggested by historical trends. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset is deducted from the carrying amount 

except for accounts receivable, for which an impairment loss is reflected in an 

allowance account against the receivables. When it is determined a receivable is 

uncollectible, it is written off from the allowance account. Changes in the amount of the 

allowance account are recognized in profit or loss. 

Impairment losses on available for sale financial assets are recognized by reclassifying 

the losses accumulated in the fair value reserve in equity to profit or loss. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss on a financial asset measured 

at amortized cost decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 

occurring after the impairment was recognized, the decrease in impairment loss is 

reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not 

exceed its amortized cost before impairment was recognized at the reversal date. 

Impairment losses recognized on an available for sale equity security are not reversed 

through profit or loss. Any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired 

available for sale equity security is recognized in other comprehensive income, and 

accumulated in other equity. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired 

available for sale debt security increases and the increase can be related objectively to 

an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, then the impairment loss is 

reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognized in profit or loss. 

Impairment losses and recoveries of accounts receivable are recognized in sales 

expenses; impairment losses and recoveries of other financial assets are recognized in 

other gains and losses of non-operating income and expenses. 
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5) Derecognition of financial assets 

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights of the cash inflow from 

the asset are terminated, or when the Company transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of financial assets. 

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entity, the difference between the carrying 

amount and the sum of the consideration received or receivable and any cumulative gain 

or loss that had been recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in other 

equity – unrealized gains or losses from available for sale financial assets are recognized 

in profit or loss, under other gains and losses of non-operating income and expenses. 

When the Company does not derecognize a financial assets in its entity, it separates the 

part that continue to be recognized and the part that is derecognized, based on the 

relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the 

carrying amount of and the consideration received for financial assets derecognized and 

any cumulative gain or loss allocated to such financial assets that had been recognized 

in other comprehensive income, are recognized in profit or loss under other gains or 

losses of non-operating revenues and expenses. A cumulative gain or loss that had been 

recognized in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues 

to be recognized and the part that is derecognized, based on the relative fair values of 

those parts. 

(iii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

1) Classification of debt or equity 

Debt or equity instruments issued by the Company are classified as financial liabilities 

or equity instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual agreement. 

Equity instruments refer to surplus equities of the assets after the deduction of all the 

debts for any contracts. 

2) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

A financial liability is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. 

Attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes 

therein, which takes into account any interest expense, are recognized in profit or loss, 

under other gains and losses of non-operating income and expenses. 

3) Other financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities not classified as held-for-trading, or designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss, which comprise of loans and borrowings, and trade and other 

payables, are measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction cost at the 
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time of initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at 

amortized cost calculated using the effective interest method. Interest expense not 

capitalized as capital cost is recognized in profit or loss, under financial costs of 

non-operating income and expenses. 

 

4) Derecognition of financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognized when its contractual obligation has been discharged 

or cancelled or expired. 

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability removed and the 

consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is 

recognized in profit or loss, under other gains and losses of non-operating income and 

expenses. 

5) Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 

The Company presents financial assets and liabilities on a net basis in the statements of 

financial position when the Company has the legally enforceable rights to offset, and 

intends to settle such financial assets and liabilities on a net basis or to realize the assets 

and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

(iv) Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting 

The Company holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and 

interest rate exposures. Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value and attributable 

transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognized 

in profit or loss, under other gains and losses of non-operating income and expenses. 

When a derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, the timing for recognizing 

gain or loss is determined based on the nature of the hedging relationship. When the fair 

value of derivative instrument is positive, it is classified as a financial asset; otherwise, 

it is classified as a financial liability. 

(g) Inventories   

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories 

is based on the weighted average method, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the 

inventories, and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and 

condition.  

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 

estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 
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(h) Investment in Associates   

Associates are those entities in which the Company has significant influence, but not control 

or joint control, over the financial and operating policies. 

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are recognized 

initially at cost. The cost of the investment includes transaction costs. The carrying amount 

of the investment in associates includes goodwill arising from business acquisition, less, any 

accumulated impairment losses. 

The consolidated financial statements include the Company’s share of the profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income of equity accounted investees after adjustments to align the 

accounting policies with those of the Company from the date that significant influence 

commences until the date that significant influence ceases. When the associates incur 

changes in equity arising from nonprofit-or-loss items and other comprehensive income, the 

Company recognizes changes in equity proportionately to shareholding percentage as capital 

surplus. Unrealized profits resulting from the transactions between the Company and an 

associate are eliminated to the extent of the Company’s interest in the associate. Unrealized 

losses on transactions with associates are eliminated in the same way, except to the extent 

that the underlying asset is impaired. 

When the Company’s share of losses exceeds its interest in associates, the carrying amount 

of the investment, including any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, 

and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Company 

has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee. 

(i) Subsidiaries   

The Company accounts the investee companies that it possesses control using the equity. Net 

income, other comprehensive income, and shareholder’ s equity in the financial reports of the 

Company and the net income, other comprehensive income, and shareholder’s equity that 

belongs to the Consolidated Company in the consolidated financial reports should be the 

same.  

The Company accounts the changes in equity, under the condition that control is still present, 

as equity transactions between the proprietors. 

(j) Property, Plant, and Equipment   

(i) Recognition and measurement 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is 

directly attributed to the acquisition of the asset. Furthermore, cost also includes the 

purchase of real estates, plants and equipment in foreign currency. Software purchased to 



TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

33 

integrate functions of the relevant equipment is also capitalized as part of the equipment. 

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in 

relation to the total cost of the item shall be depreciated separately, unless the useful life 

and the depreciation method of the significant part of an item of property, plant and 

equipment are the same as the useful life and depreciation method of another significant 

part of that same item. 

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and 

equipment shall be determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, 

and the carrying amount of the item, and shall be recognized in profit or loss, under net 

other income and expenses. 

(ii) Subsequent cost 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it is probable that future economic 

benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Company. The carrying amount 

of those parts that are replaced is derecognized. Ongoing repairs and maintenance is 

expensed as incurred. 

(iii) Depreciation 

The depreciable amount of an asset is determined after deducting its residual amount, 

and it shall be allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life. Items of property, plant 

and equipment with the same useful life may be Companyed in determining the 

depreciation charge. The remainder of the items may be depreciated separately. The 

depreciation charge for each period shall be recognized in profit or loss. 

Leased assets are depreciated by using straight-line method during the period of 

expected use, consistent with the depreciation policy the lessee adopts for depreciable 

assets that are owned. If there is reasonably certainty that the lessee will obtain 

ownership by the end of the lease term, the period of expected use is the useful life of 

the asset; otherwise, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its 

useful life. 

Land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years of significant items 

of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

1) Buildings：10~50 years 

2) Machine and equipment：5 years 

3) Furniture, fixtures and other equipment：3～10 years 

Depreciation methods, useful lives, and residual values are reviewed at each reporting 

date. If expectation differs from the previous estimates, the change is accounted for as 

a change in an accounting estimate. 
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(k) Leases    

For operating rentals of tenants, the paid rent (not including service costs such as insurance 

and maintenance) of the rental period is recognized as fees according to straight-line basis. 

The net profit provided by the lessor for incentive of rental purpose during the period of 

rental is recognized as a decrease of rental expense according to straight-line method.  

Contingent rent is recognized as expense in the periods in which they are incurred. 

(l) Intangible Assets    

(i) Research and development 

The research stage refers to the estimated activities to be conducted for achieving and 

understanding new scientific and technological knowledge. The relevant expenses 

occurred are recognized as profit or loss. 

During the development stage, the expenses are recognized as intangible assets if they 

meet all of the below conditions; for expenses that do not meet all 6 of the below 

conditions, they are recognized as profit or gain immediately when occurred: 

1) The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset has been achieved, the 

intangible asset is thus available for use or sale.  

2) The intent is to complete, use and sell the intangible asset. 

3) The Company possess the adequate talent to use or sell the intangible asset under 

discussion. 

4) The intangible asset is likely to generate future economic profit. 

5) The Company possess the adequate technology, financial conditions and other resources 

to complete the development, use and sell the intangible asset under discussion. 

6) Costs attributable to the stage of development of the intangible asset is measurable. 

The expense of capitalized stage of development is the cost of which deducted by 

accumulated amortization and cumulative impairment. 

(ii) Other Intangible Assets 

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Company are measured at cost less 

accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. 

(iii) Subsequent Expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic 

benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditures, 

including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, are recognized in 

profit or loss as incurred.  

(iv) Amortization 

Amortization amount of intangible asset is calculated based on the cost of an asset less 

its residual values. 
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The cost of the Company’s main intangible asset, computer software, is estimated to have 

a durability of 1~5 years based on straight-line amortization since it is first available for 

use. The amortized value is recognized as profit or loss. 
 

The residual value, amortization period, and amortization method for an intangible asset 

with a finite useful life shall be reviewed at least annually at each fiscal year-end. Any 

change shall be accounted for as a change in accounting estimate. 

(iv) Amortization 

Amortization amount of intangible asset is calculated based on the cost of an asset less 

its residual values. 

The cost of the Company’s main intangible asset, computer software, is estimated to 

have a durability of 1~5 years based on straight-line amortization since it is first 

available for use. The amortized value is recognized as profit or loss. 

The residual value, amortization period, and amortization method for an intangible 

asset with a finite useful life shall be reviewed at least annually at each fiscal year-end. 

Any change shall be accounted for as a change in accounting estimate. 

(m) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets   

The Company assesses non-financial assets for impairment (except for inventories, deferred 

tax assets and assets arising from employee benefit) at every reporting date, and estimates its 

recoverable amount. If it is not possible to determine the recoverable amount (fair value less 

cost to sell and value in use) for an individual asset, then the Company will have to 

determine the recoverable amount for the asset's cash-generating unit (CGU). 

The recoverable amount for individual asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair 

value, less, costs to sell and its value in use. If, and only if, the recoverable amount of an 

asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced to its 

recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss. An impairment loss shall be 

recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any indication 

that an impairment loss recognized in prior periods for an asset other than goodwill may no 

longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the entity shall eliminate 

the recoverable amount of that asset. 

(n) Revenue   

(i) Revenue from customer’s contract (applicable from Jan. 1, 2018) 

Revenue is measured basing on the consideration to which the Company expected to be 

entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The Company 

recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performace obligation by transferring control of a 
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good or service to a customer. The accounting policies to the Company’s main types of 

the revenue are explained below: 

1) Sale of goods 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable less 

estimated returns, trade discounts, and volume allowances. Our company recognizes 

revenue when persuasive evidence exists (usually by signing the sales agreement), when 

the significant risk and reward in the ownership of goods are transferred to the buyer, 

when the amount is very likely to be recovered, when the transaction-related cost and 

return of goods that has occurred or is about to occur can be reliably measured, when 

our company neither continues to participate in the management nor maintains effective 

control on the goods sold, and when the revenue can be reliably measured. If the 

discount is very likely to occur and the amount can be reliably measured, it is treated as 

a contra item of revenue and recognized when the sale is recognized. 

The timing of transferring the risk and reward depends on individual conditions of the 

sales contract. 

2) Commissions income 

When the Company serves as the agent but not the principal, revenue is recognized at 

the net commission received. 

3) Financing component 

The Company does not expect to have almost contracts where the period btween the 

transfer of the promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer 

exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Company does not adjust any of the 

transaction prices for the time value of money. 

(ii) Revenue (applicable before Jan. 1, 2018) 

1) Goods sold 

Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the 

fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and 

volume rebates. Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence exists, usually in the 

form of an executed sales agreement, that the significant risks and rewards of ownership 

have been transferred to the customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the 

associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no 

continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be 

measured reliably. If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be 

measured reliably, then the discount is recognized as a reduction of revenue as the sales 

are recognized. 



TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

37 

The timing of the transfer of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms 

of the sales agreement. 

2) Commission income 

When the Company acts as an agent rather than the client in a transaction, the income is 

recognized on the basis of the commission received. 

(o) Employee Benefits   

(i) Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an 

employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which services are 

rendered by employees. 

(ii) Defined benefit plans 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined 

contribution plan. The Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension 

plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit 

that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; 

that benefits is discounted to determine its present value. Any unrecognized past service 

costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The discount rate is the yield at 

the reporting date (market yields of high-quality corporate bonds or government bonds) 

on bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s 

obligations and that are denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are 

expected to be paid. 

The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit 

credit method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Company, the recognized 

asset is limited to the total of any unrecognized past service costs and the present value 

of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or 

reductions in future contributions to the plan. In order to calculate the present value of 

economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding requirements that 

apply to any plan in the Company. An economic benefit is available to the Company if it 

is realizable during the life of the plan, or on settlement of the plan liabilities. 

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to 

past service by employees is recognized in profit or loss. 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset), which comprise (1) actuarial 

gains and losses, (2) the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and (3) the effect of 

the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognized immediately in other 

comprehensive income. The Company reclassifies the amounts recognized in other 

comprehensive income to retained earnings. 
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The Company recognizes gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined 

benefit plan when the curtailment or settlement occurs. The gain or loss on curtailment 

comprises any resulting change in the fair value of plan assets and any change in the 

present value of the defined benefit obligation. 

(iii) Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 

expensed as the related service is provided. 

A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash 

bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Company has a present legal or constructive 

obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and 

the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

(p) Share-based payment   

The grant-date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employee is recognized 

as employee expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the 

emplyees become unconditionally entitled to the awards. The amount recognized as an 

expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards which the related service and non-market 

performance conditions are expected to meet, such that the amount ultimately recognized as 

an expense is based on the number of award that meet the related service amd non-market 

performance conditions at the vesting date. 

For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant-date fair value of the 

share-based payment is measured to reflect such contions and there is no true-up for 

differences between expected and actual outcomes. 

The stock appreciation rights to be paid to employees are measured by the fair value of the 

stock appreciation rights and then paid by cash. During the period when the employees are 

qualified for the unconditional remuneration, relative liabilities are added to the recognized 

the expenses. The relevant liabilities should be re-measured on each reporting date and 

closing date. Any changes in fair values are recognized as staff costs under profit and loss. 

(q) Income Taxes 

Income tax expenses include both current taxes and deferred taxes. Except for expenses 

related to business combinations or recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive 

income, all current and deferred taxes shall be recognized in profit or loss. 

Current taxes include tax payables and tax deduction receivables on taxable gains (losses) 

for the year calculated using the statutory tax rate on the reporting date or the actual 

legislative tax rate, as well as tax adjustments related to prior years. 
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Deferred taxes arise due to temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their respective tax bases. Deferred taxes are 

recognized except for the following: 

(i) Assets and liabilities that are initially recognized but are not related to the business 

combination and have no effect on net income or taxable gains (losses) during the 

transaction. 

(ii) Temporary differences arising from equity investments in subsidiaries or joint ventures 

where there is a high probability that such temporary differences will not reverse. 

(iii ) Initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities shall be measured at the tax rates that are expected to 

apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities may be offset against each other if the following criteria 

are met: 

(i) The entity has the legal right to settle tax assets and liabilities on a net basis; and 

(ii) The taxing of deferred tax assets and liabilities fulfill one of the below scenarios: 

(iii) levied by the same taxing authority; or 

(iv) levied by different taxing authorities, but where each such authority intends to settle 

tax assets and liabilities (where such amounts are significant) on a net basis every year 

of the period of expected asset realization or debt liquidation, or where the timing of 

asset realization and debt liquidation is matched. 
 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for the carry-forward of unused tax losses, unused tax 

credits, and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future 

taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses, unused tax credits, and 

deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such unused tax losses, unused tax credits, 

and deductible temporary differences shall also be re-evaluated every year on the financial 

reporting date, and adjusted based on the probability that future taxable profit will be 

available against which the unused tax losses, unused tax credits, and deductible temporary 

differences can be utilized. 
 

The undistributed surplus profit-making income tax portion and is recognized as the income 

tax expense for the current period after the shareholders' meeting of the next year passes the 

surplus distribution. 
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(r) Earnings per Share   

The Company discloses the Company’s basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to 

ordinary equity holders of the Company. The calculation of basic earnings per share is based 

on the profit attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the Company divided by the 

weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding. The calculation of diluted earnings 

per share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company, divided 

by the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the 

effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, such as unvested restriction stock and accrued 

employee compensation. 

(s) Operating segments   

The Company discloses its information on operating segments in its consolidated financial 

statements, so it need not disclose such information in the parent company only financial 

statements. 

(5) Significant accounting assumptions and judgments, and major sources of estimates 

uncertainty    

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with the IFRSs endorsed by the FSC 

requires management to make judgments, estimates, and assumptions that affect the application of 

the accounting policies and the reported amount of assets, liabilities, income, and expenses. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The management continues to monitor the accounting estimates and assumptions. The 

management recognizes any changes in accounting estimates during the period and the impact of 

those changes in accounting estimates in the next period. 

Information about estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material 

adjustment within the next financial year is as follows: 

(a) Valuation of inventories： 

As inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value and evaluation is based 

on an estimated future sales price, and therefore is subject to change due to changes in the 

industry and in the market. Please refer to Note 6(g) for further details on stock evaluation. 

(b) Receivables evaluation: 

The valuation of receivables is based on lifetime expected credit loss of objective evidence 

showing the recoverability of accounts receivables, so that the provision for losses can be 

made accordingly. They may be subject to change due to customer operating conditions, 

external industrial environment and economic conditions. Please refer to Note 6(e) for 

further details on receivables evaluation. 
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 (6) Explanations on significant accounts     

(a) Cash and cash equivalent   
  December 31, 

 2018 
December 31, 

 2017 
 Petty cash and cash on hand $ 290   307  

 Demand and check deposits  371,903   328,525  

 Term deposits  -   15,015  

  $ 372,193   343,847  

Please refer to Note 6(s) for the disclosure on the foreign exchange rate risk and sensitivity 

analysis of the financial assets. 

(b) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss   

1. Details of financial assets and liabilities are as follows: 

   December 31, 

 2018 

December 31, 

 2017 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 

mandatorily measured at fair value: 

      

 Derivatives instrunments not used for hedging       

 Foreign currency forward contracts $ 18   

 Financial asset held for trading：       

 Derivatives instrunments not used for hedging       

 Foreign currency forward contracts  -   79  

 Non-derivative financial assets     

 Open-end funds  -   30,327  

  $ 18   30,406  

The Company uses derivatives financial instruments to hedge the certain foreign exchange 

rate risk and interest rate risk the Company is exposed to, arising from its operating, 

financing and investing activities. The details of the derivatives financial instruments that are 

not recognized and reported as held-for-trading financial assets and liabilities since the 

Company is not applicable to hedge accounting are as follows (i.e., the financial assets and 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, mandatorily measured at fair value on 

December 31, 2018, and the financial assets and liabilities held for trading on December 31, 

2017)  
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Foreign currency forward contracts: 

Foreign currency unit: in thousands 
  December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017 

  Contract 

amount 
 

Currency 
Expiry 

duration 
Contract 

amount 
 

Currency  
Expiry 

duration 

 Derivative financial 

assets: 

      

 Forward foreign 

exchange sold 
USD300 NTD/USD  108.1.1~ 

108.1.18  
USD300 NTD/USD  107.1.1~ 

107.1.12  

        

On December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company’s financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss were not pledged as collateral. 

 

(c) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income   

   December 31, 

2018 
 Equity investments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
   

 Domestic non-listed companies $ 190,741  

   

The Company designated the investments shown above as equity securities as at fair value 

through other comprehensive income because these equity securities represent those 

investments that the Company intends to hold for long-term strategic purpose. These 

investments were classified as available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets carried 

at cost on December. 31, 2017. 

No strategic investments were disposesd as of December 31, 2018, and there were no 

transfers of any cumulative gain or loss within equity relating to these investments 

For market risk, please refer to Note 6(t). 

As of December 31, 2018, the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income were not pledged. 

(d) Available-for-sale financial assets   

 
  December 

31, 2017 

 Domestic non-listed companies $ 174,185  

   

 

The shares of Lustrous Technology Ltd. held by the Company are recognized as 

available-for-sale financial assets. Since the company had debt difficulties and could not 

file for bankruptcy to the court, the Company recognized impairment loss of $ 23,400 on 

the shares held after evaluation in 2017. 
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The investments shown above as non-current financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income, please refer to Note 6(c). 

For market risk, please refer to Note 6(s). 

As of December 31, 2017, the available-for-sale financial assets were not pledged. 

 

 (e) Notes and accounts receivable   
  December 31, 

2018 

December 

31, 2017 

 Note receivables - raised because of regular business $ 87,091   104,257  

 Account receivables - measured at amortized cost  625,104   624,919  

 Notes and accounts receivable - related parties - 

measured at amortized cost  108,945   100,156  

   821,140   829,332  

 Less: Loss allowance  (365)   (412)  

  $ 820,775   828,920  

 Notes and accounts receivable, net $ 711,830   728,764  

 Notes and accounts receivable - related parties, net $ 108,945   100,156  
    

The Company adopts a simplified approach to estimate expected credit loss regarding all 

notes and accounts receivable on December 31, 2018. Namely, the lifetime expected credit 

loss for measurement is used. For measurement purposes, notes and accounts receivable are 

grouped by mutual credit risk characteristics, including each customer’s ability to repay 

according to the contract provisions, as well as forward-looking information such as 

macroeconomic and industry prospects. The loss allowance provision as of December 31, 

2018 was determined as follows: 
  Book value of 

notes and 

accounts 

receivable 

Weighted- 

average 

expected loss 

rate 

Allowance for 

lifetime 

expected 

credit loss 
 Current $ 818,687   0.01%   115  

 Within 30 days past due  2,237   5.00%   112  

 31 to 180 days past due  116   50.00%   58  

 More than 181 days past due  100   80.00%   80  

  $ 821,140    365  

As of December 31,2017, the Company applies the inccured loss model to consider the loss 

allowance provision of notes and account receivable, and the aging analysis of notes and 

account receivable which were past due but not impaired, were as follows: 
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December 

31,2017 

 Past due 0~30 days $ 5,142  

 Past due 31~180 days  191  

 Past due over 181 days  -  

 
 

$ 5,333  

   

The movement in the allowance for nots and account receivable were as follows: 
   For the years ended December 

31,2017    

  

For the years 

ended 

December 

31,2018 

Individually 

assessed 

impairment 

Collectivly 

assessed 

impairment 

 Balance on January 1,per IAS39 $ 412   -   1,298  

 Adjustment on initial application 

of IFRS9 

 -    

 Balance on January 1,per IFRS 9  412    

 Impairment loss recognized  (47)   -   (90)  

 Written off unrecoverable 

amount 

 -   -   (796)  

 Balance on December 31 $ 365   -   412  

     

On December 31, 208 and 2017, the notes and accounts receivable were not pledged. 

The credit risk of the notes and accounts receivable on December 31, 208 and 2017, 

please refer to Note 6(s). 

(f) Other receivables   
 

 

December 31, 

2018 

December 31, 

2017 
 Other receivables  

(reported other current financial assets) $ 3,545   3,455  

 
Less: Loss allowance  -   -  

  $ 3,545   3,455  

    

For the credit risk, please refer to Note 6(s) 

(g) Inventory   
 

  

December 31, 
2018 

December 31, 
2017 

 
Products 

$ 235,423   182,166  
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Products incurred loss of the Company in 2018 and 2017are as follows: 

 
  For the years ended December 31 
  2018 2017 

 Loss on valuation of Inventory $ 1,143   (4,685)  

 Inventory profit or loss  128   41  

  $ 1,271   (4,644)  

    

From the year ended December 31, 2018, inventory was written off to net realizable value. 

The inventory valuation losses was $1,143. This was recognized as operating costs. Due to 

the sale of the slow-moving inventory during the years ended December 31, 2017 , the net 

present value of inventory bounced back and reversal of inventory valuation and 

obsolescence loss was $4,685.  

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the inventory was not pledged. 

(h) Investments accounted for using equity method   

The components of the investments accounted for using equity method were as follows: 
  December 31, 

2018 

December 31, 

2017 

 Subsidiaries $ 2,354,774   2,124,671  
    

1) Please refer to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,2018 . 

2) As of December 31,2018 and 2017 the investment in aforementioned equity-accounted investees 

were not pledged as collateral. 

(i) Property, plant, and equipment   

The movements of cost and accumulated depreciation and impairments of property, plant and 

equipment of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2018and 2017 were as follows: 

   

 

Land 

Buildings 

and 

structures 

Machinery 

and 

equipment 

Office 

equipment 

and others 

 

 

Total 

 Book value:                

  Blance at January 1, 2018 $ 56,746   38,906   673   11,524   107,849  

  Additions  -   -   417   3,940   4,357  

  Blance at December 31, 2018 $ 56,746   38,906   1,090   15,464   112,206  

  Blance at January 1, 2017 $ 56,746   38,906   673   11,308   107,633  

  Additions  -   -   -   216   216  

  Blance at December 31, 2017 $ 56,746   38,906   673   11,524   107,849  
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Land 

Buildings 

and 

structures 

Machinery 

and 

equipment 

Office 

equipment 

and others 

 

 

Total 

Depreciation and impairment 

losses: 

  Blance at January 1, 2018 $ 4,020   17,270   423   9,677   31,390  

  Depreciation for the period  -   973   103   877   1,953  

  Blance at December 31, 2018 $ 4,020   18,243   526   10,554   33,343  

  Blance at January 1, 2017 $ 4,020   16,297   311   8,379   29,007  

  Depreciation for the period  -   973   112   1,298   2,383  

  Blance at December 31, 2017 $ 4,020   17,270   423   9,677   31,390  

 Book values:                

  Blance at December 31, 2018 $ 52,726   20,663   564   4,910   78,863  

  Blance at December 31, 2017 $ 52,726   21,636   250   1,847   76,459  

       

As of December 31,2018 and 2017 the property, plant, and equipment were not pledged as 

collateral. 

(j) Short-term loans   
  107.12.31 106.12.31 

 Unused credit line $ 638,218   633,920  
    

On December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had not offer collateral for loan 

facilities.  

(k) Operating leases   

Lessee 

Rental payables of non-cancellable opetaing lease were as follows: 
  December 31, 

2018 

December 31, 

2017 

 Within one year $ 14,209   11,545  

 Between one and five years  15,842   9,118  

 Over five years  35   -  

  $ 30,086   20,663  

    

The Company leases several offices, garages, and company vehicles, etc. under 

operating leases. The lease term is usually 1~5 years and is attached with the right of 

continued renting once the term is reached. 

For the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017, expenses recognized in profit or 

loss in respect of operating leases were $ 16,477 and $ 15,690, respectively. 
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(l) Employee benefit   

(i) Defined benefit plan 

The movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations and fair value of 

planassets were as follows: 
  December 31, 

2018 

December 31, 

2017 

 Present value of benefit obligations $ 46,829   44,528  

 Fair value of plan assets  (48,948)   (47,044)  

 Recognized liabilities (assets) for defined 
benefit obligations 

$ (2,119)   (2,516)  

    

The Company makes defined benefit plan contributions to the pension fund account 

with Bank of Taiwan that provides pensions for employees upon retirement. Plans 

(covered by the Labor Standards Law) entitle a retired employee to receive retirement 

benefits based on years of service and average monthly salary for the six months 

prior to retirement. 

1) Composition of the plan asset 

The Company allocates pension funds in accordance with the Regulations for Revenues, 

Expenditures, Safeguard and Utilization of the Labor Retirement Fund, and such funds 

are managed by the Bureau of Labor Funds, Ministry of Labor. With regard to the 

utilization of the funds, minimum earnings shall be no less than the earnings attainable 

from two-year time deposits with interest rates offered by local banks. 

The Company’s Bank of Taiwan labor pension reserve account balance amounted to 

$48,948 as of December 31, 2018. For information on the utilization of the labor 

pension fund assets, including the asset allocation and yield of the fund, please refer to 

the website of the Bureau of Labor Funds, Ministry of Labor. 

2) Movements in present value of the defined benefit obligations 

The movements in present value of defined benefit obligations for the Company were as 

follows: 
  For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2018 2017 

 Defined benefit obligation at January 1 $ 44,528   43,062  

 Current service costs and interest  1,341   1,201  

 Remeasurement on the net defined benefit 

assets 
  

  ─Actuarial losses arising from changes in 

financial assumptions 
 960   265  

 Defined benefit obligation at December 31 $ 46,829   44,528  
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3) Movements of defined benefit plan assets 

The movements in the present value of the defined benefit plan assets for the Company 

were as follows: 
  For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2018 2017 

 Fair value of plan assets at January 1 $ 47,044   46,584  

 Interest income  762   639  

 Remeasurement of net defined obligation 

assets－return on plan assets (excluding 

interest 

income) 

 

 1,142  

 

 (183)  

 Contributions from employer  -   4  

 Fair value of plan assets at December 31 $ 48,948   47,044  

    

 

 

4) Expense recognized in profit or loss 

The expenses recognized in profit or loss for the Company was as follows: 
  For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2018 2017 

 Current service costs $ 620   611  

 Net interest of net assets for defined benefit 

obligations 

 (41)   (49)  

  $ 579   562  

 Selling expenses  195   187  

 General and administrative expenses  384   375  

  $ 579   562  
    

 

5) Remeasurement on the net defined benefit assets recognized in other comprehensive 

income 

The Company’s remeasurement on the net defined benefit assets recognized in other 

comprehensive income for the years were as follows: 
  For the Years Ended  

December 31, 
  2018 2017 

 Cumulative amount at January 1 $ (5,963)   (5,515)  

 Recognized during the period  182   (448)  

 Cumulative amount at December 31 $ (5,781)   (5,963)  
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6) Actuarial assumptions 

The following are the principal actuarial assumptions as of December 31, 2018 and 

2017: 
  107.12.31 106.12.31 

 Discount rate  1.375%   1.625%  

 Future salary increases rate  3.000%   3.000%  

    

The Compamy expects to make contributions of $0 to defined benefit plans in 2018.  

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit plans is 15.77 years. 

 

7) Sensitivity analysis 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the effects of the present value of the defined 

benefit obligation arising from changes in principal actuarial assumptions were as 

follows:  

 
  Influences of defined benefit 

obligations 
  Increased0.25％ Increased0.25％ 

 December 31, 2018       

 Discount rate $ (1,420)   1,481  

 Future salary increases rate  1,428   (1,380)  

 December 31, 2017   

 Discount rate  (1,483)   1,495  

 Future salary increases rate  1,445   (1,399)  

    

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change 

in the present value of the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in 

assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be 

correlated. The sensitivity analysis adopts the same methods for determining the pension 

liabilities (assets) at balance sheet date. 

The methods and assumptions used on current sensitivity analysis is the same as those 

of the prior year. 

(ii) Defined contribution plans 

The Company contributes an amount equal to 6% of the employee’s monthly wages to 

the Labor Pension personal account with the Bureau of the Labor Insurance in 

accordance with the provisions of the Labor Pension Act, under which, the Company is 

not required to bear the regulated or putative obligation subsequent to the payment of 

fixed-rate contribution. 



TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

50 

The Company’s pension costs under the defined contribution pension plan amounted to 

$4,138 and $3,846 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  

(m) Income tax   

Under the amendments to the Income Tax Act which was promulgated by the president of 

the Republic of China on February 7,2018 , the Company and Topglow’s applicable income 

tax rate were raised from 17% to 20% effective from January 1, 2018. 

(i) Income tax expense 

1) The details of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, 

were as follows： 

  For the Years Ended  

December 31, 
  2018 2017 

 Current tax expense       

  Current period $ 54,083   36,582  

  10% surtax on undistributed earnings  6,873   -  

   60,956   36,582  

 Deferred tax expense       

  Origination and reversal of temporary 

differences 

 2,262   (5,868)  

  Effect of tax rate changes  12,059   -  

 Income tax expense $ 75,277   30,714  

    

2) Reconciliations between income tax and profit before tax for the years ended December 

31, 2018 and 2017, were as follows: 
  For the Years Ended  

December 31, 
  2018 2017 

 Income before tax $ 538,519   380,852  

 Income tax calculated on pretax financial 

income at the statutory rate 

 107,704   64,745  

 Unrecognized Deferred Tax Liabilities  (49,476)   (30,589)  

 Tax-exempt income and investment income 

recognized under equity method 

 (6,996)   (6,575)  

 Income tax not including impairment loss of 

financial assets 

 -   3,978  

 Effect of tax rate changes  12,059   -  

 10% surtax on undistributed earnings  6,873   -  

 Others  5,113   (845)  

  $ 75,277   30,714  
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(ii) Deferred tax liabilities 

1) Unrecognized Deferred Tax Liabilities 

The Company did not recognize any temporary differences related to investment in 

subsidiaries since the Company has the ability to control the time point when temporary 

differences are reversed, and it is certain that the differences will not be reversed in the 

foreseeable future. Related information for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 

2017, were as follows: 

 
  107.12.31 106.12.31 

 Temporary differences related to investment in 
subsidiaries 

$ 284,581   199,840  

    

2) Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets：None 

3) Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Changes in the amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the years ended 

December 31, 2018 and 2017, were as follows: 
  Recognized 

gain on 

foreign 

investment 

for equity 

method  

 

Defined 

benefit plan 

 

 

Others 

 

 

Total 
 

Deferred tax liabilities     
 

Balance as of January 1, 2018 $ 69,509   2,021   14   71,544  

 Recognized in profit or loss  14,891   242   (11)   15,122  

 Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 84,400   2,263   3   86,666  

 Balance as of January 1, 2017 $ 75,325   2,117   525   77,967  

 Recognized in profit or loss  (5,816)   (96)   (511)   (6,423)  

 Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 69,509   2,021   14   71,544  
      

  Unrealized losses on 

inventory valuation 

and obsolescence 

 

 

Others 

 

 

Total 
 Deferred tax assets:    

 Balance as of January 1, 2018 $ 1,147  2,065   3,212  

 Recognized in profit or loss          324  477   801  

 Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 1,471  2,542   4,013  

 Balance as of January 1, 2017 $ 1,016  2,750   3,766  

 Recognized in profit or loss          131  (685)   (554)  

 Balance as of December 31, 2017 $       1,147  2,065   3,212  
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3. The tax returns assessment and approval 

The tax returns of the Company has been assessed and approved through 2015 by the Tax 

Authority. 

 (n) Capital and other equity   

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the total value of authorized ordinary shares amounted 

to $800,000 thousand, with par value of $10 (NT dollars) per share, of which   80,000 

thousand shares, 64,061 thousand shares and 64,101 thousand shares were issued, 

respectively. All issued shares were paid up upon issuance. 

(i) Common stock issuance 

In 2018 and 2017, when some of the employees assigned new employee rights 

restrictions of the Company failed to meet the vested conditions, their shares were 

bought back by the Company at the issue price of 40,000 shares and 5,000 shares 

respectively, the changes has already been registered. 

The board of directors approved the cash capital increase at 100 millions and issued 

10,000 thousand shares on September17, 2018 with par value $10 (NT dollars) per share. 

It had been appvoved by the Financial Supervisory Commission (FSC) No. 1070340878. 

The cash capital increase was issuance at $60 dollars per share and the record date is 

January 16,2019. The registration had been completed on February 12, 2019. 

A recomciliation of the Company’s outstanding shares of the year 2018 and 2017 were as 

follows:  

Common shares (thousand of shares) 
  For the Years Ended  

December 31, 
  2018 2017 

 Balance as of January 1, 2018  64,101   64,106  

 Retirement of employees restricted shares  (40)   (5)  

 Balance as of December 31, 2018  64,061   64,101  

    

(ii) Capital surplus 

The details of capital surplus were as follows: 
   December 

31,2018 
December 

31,2017 
 Paid-in capital in excess of par value $ 492,060   530,521  

 Premium from merger  329,343   329,343  

 Share-based payment transaction- issuing shares  8,600   -  

 Share-based payment transaction-restricted 
employee shares of stock 

 124,072   126,480  

  $ 954,075   986,344  
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The shareholder’s meeting approved the distribution of cash dividend from capital 

reserve of $38,461 ($0.6 dollars per share) on June 20, 2018. 

In accordance with the amended R.O.C. Company Act, realized capital reserves can 

only be reclassified as share capital or distributed as cash dividends after offsetting 

losses. The aforementioned capital reserves include share premiums and donation 

gains. In accordance with Securities Offering and Issuance Guidelines, the amount of 

capital reserves to be reclassified under share capital shall not exceed 10% of the 

actual share capital amount. 

(iii) Legal reserve 

According to the Company Act, the Company must retain 10% of its after-tax annual 

earnings as legal reserve until such retention equals the amount of total capital. When 

a company incurs no loss, it may, pursuant to a resolution by a shareholder's meeting, 

distribute its legal reserve by issuing new shares or by distributing cash and only the 

portion of legal reserve which exceeds 25% of capital may be distributed. 

(iv) Special reserve  

When the Company first adopted the International Financial Reporting Standards as 

approved by the Financial Supervisory Commission, due to the application of 

exemption items as stated in No.1 of the International Financial Reporting Standards, 

“Initial adaptation of the International Financial Reporting Standards”, the cumulative 

conversion adjustment under the original account’s shareholder equity is presumed to 

be zero, and increased retained earnings to $ 17,368. However, the adopted retained 

earnings increased by $ 8,680 on the conversion date as it was the first adaptation of 

IFRSs. In accordance with Ruling No. 1010012865 issued by the Financial Supervisory 

Commission on April 6, 2012, retained earnings are increased to $ 8,680. After the 

deduction of penalized relevant assets in 2012, which is $ 2,317 by proportion, the 

special reserve for its net value is $ 6,363, as recognized on January 1, 2013. The 

balance of special reserve for which on December 31, 2018 and 2017 is $ 6,363. 

In accordance with the above-mentioned stipulations, a portion of current-period 

earnings and undistributed prior-period earnings shall be reclassified as a special 

earnings reserve during earnings distribution. The amount to be reclassified should 

equal to the current-period total net reduction of other shareholders’ equity. Similarly, a 

portion of undistributed prior period earnings shall be reclassified as a special earnings 

reserve (and does not qualify for earnings distribution) to account for cumulative 

changes to other shareholders’ equity pertaining to prior periods. Amounts of 

subsequent reversals pertaining to the net reduction of other shareholders’ equity shall 

qualify for additional distributions. 
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(v) The restriction of earnings distribution and dividend policy 

The Company’s Articles of Incorporation provide that, when allocating the net profit for 

each fiacal year, the Company shall first offset its losses in previous years and then set 

aside the leagel reserve at 10% of net profit until the accumulated leagal reserve equals 

the Company’s capital; and also set aside special capital reserve in accordance with 

relevant regulations or as requested by the authorities.Any balance left over and the 

beginning balance of retaining earnings ,the Company’s appropriations of earnings are 

approved in the meeting of the Board of Directors and presented for approval in the 

Company’s shareholders’ meeting. 

The Company’s dividend policy considers the Company’s future funding needs, and is 

decided based on the Company’s earnings, financial structure and the finding needs for 

future operating plans. 10%~90% of the cumulative distributable earnings are also 

appropriated and distributed after the Board proposes a resolution for the distribution of 

earnings which will be approved at shareholders’ meeting. Besides, for the distribution 

ratio of stock or cash dividends, stock dividends shall not exceed 50%. The annual 

shareholders’ meeting can still decide the most suitable way of dividend distribution 

depending on the industry condition, with the Company’s benefits and development 

served as the highest principle. 

(vi) The appropriations of 2017 and 2016 earnings that were approved at shareholder’s 

meetings on June 20, 2018 and June 21, 2017, respectively were as follows: 
  2017 2016 
  Distribution 

rate (Dollar) 

 

Amount 

Distribution 

rate (Dollar) 
 

Amount 

 Diviends distributed to common 

shareholders: 

            

  Cash diviends $4 256,404 4 256,404 
      

The appropriation of 2018 earnings that was drafted at Board of Directors on March 4, 

2019. Unappropriated retained earning is allocated as cash dividends, details of the 

dividends allocated to owners are as follows: 
  2017 
  Distribution 

rate (Dollar) 

 

Amount 

 Diviends distributed to common 

shareholders: 

      

  Cash diviends $5.1 377,711 
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The 2018 surplus allocation is still awaiting resolution of the shareholders’ meeting, 

details of which can be found on Market Observation Post System website after 

shareholders’ meeting. 

(vii) Other equities (net of tax) 
  

Exchange 

differences on 

translation of 

foreign 

financial 

statements  

Unrealized gain 

or loss from 

financial assets 

at fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income and loss 

Unrealized 

gains (losses) 

on available for 

sale financial 

assets 

Unearned 

compensation 

of reatricted 

employee 

shares of stock Total 

Balance, January 1, 2018 $ (84,809)   -   81,031   (16,425)  (20,203) 

Effects of retrospective application  -   57,631   (81,031)   -    (23,400) 

Balance at January 1, 2018 after adjustments  (84,809)   57,631  -  (16,425)  (43,603) 

Foreign currency translation differences    (19,349)    - - - (19,349) 

Unrealized gain or loss from financial assets at fair 

value through other comprehensive income and 

loss  -   16,556   -   -  16,556 

Retirement of employees restricted shares  -   -   -   1,888  1,888 

Compensation cost of issuing restricted employee 

shares 

 -   -   -   14,537    14,537 

Balance,December 31, 2018 $ (104,158)   74,187   -   -   (29,971) 

       

Balance, January 1, 2017 $ (24,288)   -   7,464   (38,633)  (55,457) 

Foreign currency translation differences  (60,521)   -   -   -  (60,521) 

Unrealized gain or loss from available-for-sale 

financial assets  -   -   50,167   -  50,167 

Reclassification adjustment of the impairment of 

available-for-sale financial assets  -   -   23,400   -  23,400 

Retirement of employees restricted shares  -   -   -   236  236 

Compensation cost of issuing restricted employee 

shares  -   -   -   21,972    21,972 

Balance, ,December 31, 2017 $ (84,809)   -   81,031   (16,425)   (20,203) 

       

(o) Share-based payment transaction－new restricted employee shares   

(i) New restricted employee shares 

During the meeting on June 20,2014 , the Company’s shareholders approved a resolution 

to issue 2,400,000 shares of stock to those full-time employees who comformed to the 

company’s certain requirements. These restricted employee shres of stock have been 

registered and approved by the ROC Securities and Futures Bureau of Financial 

Supervisory Commission.On August 11,2014, the board of directors approved a 
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resolution to issue 2,400,000 restricted employee shres and set September 30, 2014 as the 

record date for capital increase of issued new shares. 

These emplyees are entitled to purchase the restricted shres of stock at the price of $23, 

with the condition at these employees will continue to provide service to the Company 

for the 4 years (from the grant date) and qulify with the Company’s certain 

requirement.The restricted shres of stock for emplyees are kept by tust, which is 

appointed by the Company before they are vested. These shres shall not be sold, pledged, 

transferred, gifted or by any other means of disposal to third parties during the custody 

period. If there are any employees who fail to meet the vested conditions, their shares 

will be bought back by the Company at the full price of issuance. However, restricted 

employee shares of stock may still participate in share allotments, interest distribution, 

and cash capital increase and subscriptions. New shares that are obtained as a result of 

allotment or capital increase subscriptions are not restricted to employee rights shares. 

The number of the restricted employee shares of stock(in thousands) for the years ended 

December 31,2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

 
  2018 2017 

 Outstanding at the beginning of year  2,101   2,106  

 Retired  (40)   (5)  

 Vested  (2,061)   -  

 Outstanding at the end of year  -   2,101  
    

 

The Company’s above-mentioned restricted employee shares of stock are measured 

at fair value with a closing price of $ 70.20 for the grant date of company stocks, 

resulting in a capital reserve of $ 144,480 restricted employee shares. In December 31, 

2018 and 2017, the unearned balance of employee salary was $0 and $ 16,425 

respectively. 

For the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017, the accrued compensation cost for 

the restricted employee shares of stock amounted to $14,537 and $21,972. 

(ii) Employee stock options at cash capital increase 

On September 17,2018 the Company’s board of directors approved to cash capital 

increase, and 1,000,000 shres to the employee stock options. The related informations 

are as follows:： 
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Type 

Employee stock options at cash 

capital increase 

 Vesting date December 19,2018 

 Options granted   1,000,000 shares 

 Exercise Amount   1,000,000 shares 

 Vesting Period  Immediate vesting 

The capital increase retention and the fair value of employee stock options at cash capital 

increase is $8.6. The recognized reward cost as of 2018 is $8,600,000, which is listed 

under Operating Costs. 

 (p) Earnings per share   

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the basic and diluted earnings per share 

were calculated as follows 
  For the Years ended December 31 
  2018 2017 

 Basic earnings per share   

 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company $ 463,242   350,138  

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic)  62,515   62,000  

 Basic earnings per share(in dollars) $ 7.41   5.65  

 Diluted earnings per share   

 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company $       463,242             350,138  

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic)  62,515   62,000  

 Employee compensation  726   513  

 Restricted employee shares of stock  -   1,537  

 Employee stock options at cash capital increase  4   -  

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)          63,245                 64,050  

 Diluted earnings per share(in dollars) $ 7.32   5.47  
    

(q) Revenue from contracts with customers   

(i) Disagregation Revenue 

   

For the Years ended 

December 31,2018 

 Major markets    

 Taiwan $ 2,369,656 

 China  773,508 

 Other  232,947 

 
 $            3,376,111  

 
Major product：    

 Related products of chemical material $            3,376,111 
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(ii) Balance of contract 

   December 

31,2018 

January 1, 

2018 

 Notes and accounts receivable $ 821,140   829,332  

 Less: loss allowance  (365)   (412)  

  $ 820,775   828,920  

 Current contract liabilities- Advance sales 
receipts 

$ 1,309   9,180  

    

For details on notes, accounts receivable and loss allowance, please see Note 6(e). 

The amount of revenue recognized for the years ended December 31, 2018 that was 

included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period was 9,180. 

The major change in the balance of contract liabilities is the difference between the 

time of the performance oblgation to be satisfied and the payment to be received. 

(r) Employees’ and directors’ compensation   

According to the Company’s Article of Incorporation, if the compay has profit, 5%~10% of 

them shall be appropriated as employee remuneration, and a percentage not higher than 5% 

shall be remuneration of directors. In case of accumulated loss of the Company, the amount 

shall be reserved to compensate for the amount, followed by calculating the employee 

remuneration and director remuneration according to the balance. Employee remuneration 

can be stocks or cash, and the parties to be distributed include the employees of the associate 

companies who satisfy a certain criteria. 

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 the appropriated employee compensations 

amounted to $42,000, and $31,000 and directors’ compensations amounted to $18,000 and 

$13,000 respectively. These amounts were calculated based on the Company’s article of 

incorporation and the net profit before tax after deducting employee and director 

compensations, and was recognized under operating expenses, which were consistent with 

the actual distributions. Related information can be accessed from the Market Observation 

Post System website. 

(s) Financial instruments  

(i) Credit risk 

1) Credit risks exposure 

The carrying amounts of financial assets represents the maximum credit risk exposure 

of the Company. 

2) Concentration of credit risk 
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As the Company has a large customer base and does not have a significant 

concentration of transactions with a single customer and the sales area is dispersed, the 

credit risk of accounts has no significant concentration. 

3) Credit risk of account receivables and debt securities 

Please refer to the Note 6(e) of the disclosure of the risk exposure information of notes 

and accounts receivable. Please refer to Note 6(f) for the details of certificate of deposits 

and other receivables and the recognition of impairment for the years ended December 

31, 2018.  

The following table lists the above-mentioned financial assets, loss allowance 

recognized on December 31, 2018 and whether there is credit impairment according to 

12-month expected credit loss or lifetime expected credit loss: 

  December 31, 2018  

  Evaluated at amortized cost  

  

12-month 

expected 

loss 

Expected 

loss - not 

impaired 

expected 

loss - 

impaired Total 

 Total Book value $ 10,044   821,140   -   831,184  

 Loss allowance  -   (365)   -   (365)  

 Amortized cost $ 10,044   820,775   -   830,819  

 Book value, net $ 10,044   820,775   -   830,819  

(ii) Liquidity risk 

The following were the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, not including the 

impact of estimated interests. 
   

Book value 

Contract 

cash flows 

Within 1 

years  

Within 

1~2 years  

More than 

2 years 

 
December 31, 2018                

 
Non-derivative financial liabilities                

  Notes payable and trades 

(including related parties) 

$ 388,830   (388,830)   (388,830)   -   -  

  Other payable  5,661   (5,661)   (5,661)   -   -  

  $ 394,491   (394,491)   (394,491)   -   -  

 
December 31, 2017                

 
Non-derivative financial liabilities                

  Notes payable and trades 

(including related parties) 

$ 400,380   (400,380)   (400,380)   -   -  

  Other payable  3,785   (3,785)   (3,785)   -   -  

  $ 404,165   (404,165)   (404,165)   -   -  

The Company does not expect that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could 

occur significantly earlier or at significantly different amounts. 
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(iii) Currency risk 

1) Exposure to foreign currency risk 

The Company’s significant exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows: 

Foreign currency unit: in thousand 
  December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017 

  Foreign 

currency 
 

Exchange rate 
 

NTD 
Foreign 

currency 
 

Exchange rate 
 

NTD 

 Financial asset                   

  Monetary items                   

  USD $ 11,583  USD/NTD= 

30.715 

 355,761   10,351  USD/NTD 

=29.760 

 308,054  

 Financial liabilities                   

  Monetary items                   

  USD  7,452  USD/NTD 

=30.715 

 228,877   8,009  USD/NTD = 

29.760 

 238,354  

2) Sensitive analysis 

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk arises from the translation of the 

foreign currency exchange gains and losses on cash and cash equivalents, receivables 

and other receivables, account payables and other payable that are denominated in 

foreign currency. Assuming other variable remain the same, a 5% depreciation or 

appreciation of the NTD against the USD, RMB, JPY, HKD and EUR, etc. as of 

December 31, 2018 and 2017, the before-tax income will increase or decrease by $ 

6,144 and $ 3,354, respectively. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain 

constant. 

3) Gain or loss on foreign exchange 

The Company deals with diverse foreign currencies, therefore, the gains or losses on 

foreign exchange were summarized as a single amount. For the nine months ended 

December 31, 2018 and 2017, the foreign exchange gain(loss), including realized and 

unrealized, amounted to gain of $3,285 and loss of $7,853, respectively.  

(iv) Interest rate analysis 

The Company's interest rate exposure as follows: 
  Carring value 
  December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2017 

 
Variable interest rate instruments:   

   Financial assets $ 371,878   328,455  
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The Company's sensitivity analysis in interest rates is based on the risk exposure to interest 

rates on the derivative and the non-derivative financial instruments on the reporting date. 

For variable rate instruments, the sensitivity analysis assumes the variable rate liabilities 

are outstanding for the whole year on the reporting date. 

If the interest rate increases or decreases by 0.25%, the Company’s profit will increase or 

decrease by $930 and $821 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, 

due to the floating rate deposits of the Company. This analysis assumes that all other 

variables remain constant.  

(v) Fair value information 

1) Evaluation process 

The Company’s accounting policy and disclosure include evaluating its financial assets 

and liabilities at fair value. The Company’s management personnel are responsible for 

conducting independent fair value verification, making the evaluation result close to 

market conditions with data of independent source, ensuring the data source is 

independent, reliable, consistent with other resources and representative of strike price, 

periodically calibrate the evaluation model, renew the input values and data needed by 

the evaluation model, and other necessary fair value adjustment, in order to make sure 

the result is reasonable. 

The Company uses observable market data to evaluate its assets and liabilities when it is 

possible. The different inputs of levels the of fair value hierarchy in determining the fair 

value are as follows: 

● Level 1：quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identifiable assets or 

liabilities.  

● Level 2：inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly(ie as prices) or directly (ie derived 

from prices). 

● Level 3：inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on observable market 

data. 

 

 2) The categories and fair values of financial instruments 

The measurement basis of the financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 

or loss and the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

(available-for-sale) is repetitive the carrying amount and fair value of the Company’s 

financial assets and liabilities, including the information on fair value hierarchy were 
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as follows; however, except as described in the following paragraphs, for financial 

instruments not measured at fair value whose carrying amount is reasonably close to 

the fair value, and for equity investments that has no quoted prices in the active 

markets and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, disclosure of fair value 

information is not required : 

 

  December 31, 2018 

   Fair value 

  Carring 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, 

mandatorily measured at fair 

value：                

 Derivatives not for hedging $ 18   -   18   -   18  

 Financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive 

income：                

  Domestic non-listed companies  190,741   -   -   190,741   190,741  

 Financial assets at amortised 

cost：                

 Cash and cash equivalent  372,193   -   -   -   -  

 Notes and accounts receivable 

(Including related parties)  820,775   -   -   -   -  

 Refundable deposit (reported 

Other non-current assets)  6,499   -   -   -   -  

 Other current financial assets  3,545   -   -   -   -  

   Total  1,203,012      

  $ 1,393,771      

 Financial liabilities at amortised 

cost：                

 Notes and account payable 

(Including related parties) $ 388,830   -   -   -   -  

 Other payables  5,661   -   -   -   -  

   Total  394,491              

  $ 394,491      
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  December 31, 2017 
   Fair value 
  Carring 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss： 

               

 Non-derivative financial assets $ 30,327   30,327   -   -   30,327  

 Derivatives not for hedging  79   -   79   -   79  

   Total  30,406      

 Available-for-sale financial 

assets: 

               

  Domestic non-listed companies  174,185   -   -   174,185   174,185  

 Loans and receivables:                

 Cash and cash equivalent  343,847   -   -   -   -  

 Notes and accounts receivable 

(Including related parties) 

 

   828,920    

 

   -    

 

   -    

 

   -    

 

   -    

 Refundable deposit (reported 

Other non-current assets) 

 

   6,473    

 

   -    

 

   -    

 

   -    

 

   -    

 Other receivable (reported Other 

current financial assets) 

 

   3,455    

 

   -    

 

   -    

 

   -    

 

   -    

   Total  1,182,695      

  $ 1,387,286      

 Financial liabilities at amortised 

cost： 

               

 Notes and account payable 

(Including related parties) 

 

$   400,380    

 

   -    

 

   -    

 

   -    

 

   -    

 Other payables  3,785   -   -   -   -  

    $ 404,165      

       

3) Valuation techniques for financial instruments not measured at fair value 

The method and assumption used by the Company in estimating instruments not 

evaluated at fair value are as follows: 

A. Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

If there are quote data of the dealer, then the nearest price and quote data are the 

basis of estimating fair value. If no market price is available for reference, the 

evaluation method is used. The estimation and assumption used in the evaluation 

method is the estimated fair value of discounted cash flows. 

4) Valuation techniques for financial instruments measured at fair value 

A. Non-derivative financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market is based on quoted 

market price. 
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A financial instrument is regarded as being quoted in an active market if quoted price 

are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, 

pricing service, or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly 

occurring market transactions on an arm’s-length basis. Whether transactions are 

taking place ‘regularly’ is a matter of judgement and depends on the facts and 

circumstances of the market for the instrument. Quoted market prices may not be 

indicative of the fair value of the instrument if the activity in the market is 

infrenquent, the market is not well-established, only small volumes are traded, or 

bid-ask srpeads are very wide. Determining whether a market is active involves 

judgment. 

Measurement of fair value of financial instrunments without an active market are 

based on valuation technique or quoted price from a competitor. Fair value, measured 

by using valuation technique that can be extrapolated from either similar financial 

instrunments or discounted cash flow method or the market transaction prices of the 

similar companies or other valuation techniques, including models, is calculated 

based on available market data at the reporting date. 

The financial instrunment of the Company is not traded in an actine market, its fair 

value is determined as follows: The fair value is determined based on the ratio of the 

quoted market price of the comparative listed company and its book value per share. 

Also, the fair value is discounted for its lack of liquidity in the market. 

B. Derivative financial instruments 

Measurement of the fair value of derivative instruments is based on the valuation 

techniques generally accepted by market participants such as the discounted cash 

flow or option pricing models. Fiar value of forward currency is usually determined 

by the forward currency exchange rate. 

5) For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no transferring from each 

level in the fair value hierarchy. 

6) Changes in level 3 of the fair value 
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 Fair value through other 

comprehensive income 

(Available-for-sale 

financial assets) 
  Unquoted equity 

instruments 

 Balance on January 1, 2018 $  174,185  

  Total gains and losses recognized:  

   Recognized in other comprehensive income  

    Net changes in fair value in the period  16,556  

 Balance on December 31, 2018 $ 190,741  

 Balance on January 1, 2017 $ 119,064  

  Total gains and losses recognized:  

   Recognized in loss  (23,400)  

   Recognized in other comprehensive income  

      Net changes in fair value in the period  53,891  

       Net changes in fair value reclassification to profit and loss  19,676  

 Acquisition  4,954  

 Balance on December 31, 2017 $ 174,185  
   

The aforementioned total gains and losses were recognized in “other gains and 

losses”,“unrealized gains and losses from available-for-sale financial assets” and 

“unrealized gains and losses from financial assets fair value through other 

comprehensive income”. The details of the assets which the Company still held as of 

December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

 

  For the Years Ended December 31, 

  2018 2017 

 Total gains and losses recognized：   

 In other comprehensive income (accounted 

as“ unrealized gains on financial assets 

measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income”) 

 

 

$       16,556    

 

 

 

   In profit or loss (accounted as “other gains 

and losses”) 

 $ (23,400)  

 In other comprehensive income (accounted 

as “unrealized gains (losses) on 

available-for-sale financial assets”) 

 

 

 

$       73,567    
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7) Quantified information for significant unobservable inputs (level 3) used in fair value 

measurement 

The Company’s financial instruments that use level 3 inputs to measure the fair values 

include financial assets measured at available-for-sale financial assets-equity 

investments. 

The financial instruments of the Company is not traded in an active market, its equity 

instruments classified as Level 3 fair value have multiple significant unobservable input 

values. The significant unobservable inputs of the equity invsestments are independent 

from each other as a result, there is no relevance between them. 

The quantified information for significant unobservable inputs is as follows: 
  

 

 

 

Item 

 

 

 

Evaluation 

technique 

 

 

Significant 

unobservable 

input value 

Relation between 

significant 

unobservable 

input value and 

fair value 
 Financial assets at 

fair value through 
other 
comprehensive 
income 
(Available-for-sal
e financial 
assets)-equity 
instruments 
without active 
market 

Comparable listed 

company’s 

approach 

‧PB ratio 

(1.83~3.13 and 

1.96~2.97 on 

December 31, 

2018 and 2017, 

respectively) 

‧PE ratio ((12.91 

and 16.67 on 

December 31, 

2018 and 2017, 

respectively) 

‧Market liquidity 

discount rate 

(25% on 

December 31, 

2018 and) 

‧The estimate fair 

value would 

increase if the 

multiplier was 

higher 

‧The estimate fair 

value would 

decrease if 

market liquidity 

discount rate was 

higher 

8) Sensitivity analysis for fair values of financial instruments using Level 3 inputs 

The Company’s fair value measurement on financial instruments is reasonable. 

However, the measurement would be different if different valuation models or valuation 

parameters are used. For financial instruments using level 3 inputs, the impact on the net 

income or loss and other comprehensive income or loss will be as follows if the 

valuation parameters changed: 
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   Increase 

or 

decrease 

mpacts of fair value 

change on other 

comprehensive income or 

loss 
  Input value Favorable Unfavorable 

 December 31, 2018         

 Financial assets at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income 

PB ratio 5％ $ 5,149   5,139  

 Financial assets at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income 

PE ratio 5％ $ 4,395   4,398  

 Financial assets at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income 

Market 
liquidity 
discount rate 

5％ $ 9,550   9,531  

 December 31, 2017         

 Available-for-sale 
financial assets 

PB ratio 5％ $ 4,954   4,966  

 Available-for-sale 
financial assets 

PE ratio 5％ $ 3,749   3,760  

 Available-for-sale 
financial assets 

Market 
liquidity 
discount rate 

5％ $ 8,709   8,720  

      

The favorable and unfavorable effects represent the changes in fair value and fair value 

is based on variety of unobservable inputs calculated using a valuation technique. The 

analysis above only reflects the effects of changes in a single input, and it does not 

include the interrelationships with another input. 

(w) Financial risk management   

(i) Overview 

The Company is exposured to the following risks from its financial instruments: 

1) credit risk 

2) liquidity risk 

3) market risk 

The note discloses information about the Company’s explosure to the aforemaentioned 

risks, and its goals, policys and procedurs regarding the measurement and management of 

these risks. For additional quantitative disclosures of these risks, please refer to the notes 

regarding each risk disclosed throughout the financial report.  

(ii) Risk management framework 

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the 

risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor 
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risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 

regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered. The 

Company, through its training and management standards and procedures, aim to 

develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all employees 

understand their roles and obligations. 

The Company’ s Internal Audit oversees how management monitors compliance with 

the Company’ s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of 

the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company. Internal 

Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and 

procedures, the results of which are reported to the Board of Directors. 

(iii) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to 

financial instruments fails to meet its contractual obligations that arise principally from 

the Company’s account receivables and securities investment. 

1) Accounts receivables and other receivables  

The Company has established a credit policy, and according to the policy, the Company 

must analyze its individual credit rating for each new customer before giving the 

standard payment and delivery terms. The review of the Company includes, if available, 

an external review, and, in some cases, a note from the bank. Purchase quotas are 

established on individual customers. This limit is reviewed regularly. Customers who do 

not comply with the Company's benchmark credit rating are only allowed to advance 

the transaction with the Company. 

Accounts receivables cover a large number of customers and are dispersed in different 

industries and geographical areas. The Company will continue to evaluate the financial 

status of accounts customers and, if necessary, purchase credit guarantee insurance 

contracts. 

As the Company has a large customer base and does not significantly focus on trading 

with a single customer and the sales area is scattered, there is no significant 

concentration of credit risks on accounts. In order to reduce credit risk, the Company 

also regularly reviews the financial status of its customers, but usually does not require 

customers to provide collateral. 

2) Investment 

The Company reduces credit risk by investing only in liquid securities with good credit 

ratings. As managers actively monitor credit ratings and the Company can only invest in 

securities with high-quality credit ratings, managers do not expect any traders to not be 

able to perform their obligations. 
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(iv) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the 

obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or 

another financial asset. 

The Company maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents so as to cope with its 

operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Company’s 

management supervises the bank loan facilities and ensures in compliance with the 

terms of the loan agreements. 

The loan was an important source of liquidity for the Company. As of December 

31,2018 and 2017, the Company has unused credit facilities for short-term and 

long-term loans please refer to note 6(j). 

(v) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, 

interest rates and equity prices, and credit spreads will affect the Company’s income or 

the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 

management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 

parameters, while optimizing the return on risk. 

 1) Currency risk 

The Company is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchase that denominated in a 

currency other than the respective functional currencies used in these transactions are 

denominated in TWD, USD ,RMB and HKD. The immense currency exchange risk 

management of the Company is limited within permission of its policies, and makes 

use of long-term foreign currency contracts for risk management. 

2) Interest risk 

The company manages interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate fixed and 

variable interest rate portfolio. 

3) Other market price risk 

The immense risk in equity price generated by the Company measuring fair value of 

non-listed equity securities by the evaluation method, and measuring fair value of open 

fund investments by open prices. 

(x) Capital Management   

Through clear undersanding and managing of significant changes in external environment, 

related industrial characteristics, and corporate growth plan, the Company manages its 

capital structure to ensure its has sufficient financial resources to sustain proper liquidity, to 

invest in capital expenditures, as well as to repay debt, and to distribute dividends in 

accordance to its plan. The management pursues the most suitable capital structure by 
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monitoring and maintaining proper fianacial ratio as below. The Company aims to enhance 

the returns to its shareholders through achieveing an optimized debt-to-equity ratio regularly. 
   December 

31,2018 

December 

31,2017 

 Total liabilities $ 820,139   714,858  

 Total equity  3,252,726   3,064,743  

 Debt to equity ratio  25%   23%  
    

As of December 31, 2018 the Company’s capital management strategy is consistent with the 

prior year. 

(y) Financing activities not affecting current cash flow   

The Company didn’t have the financing activities not affecting current cash flow for the nine 

months ended December 31, 2018. 

(7) Related-Party Transactions   

(a) Names and relationship with related parties   

The followings are entities that have had transactions with related during the periods covered 

in the financial statements： 

 

 Name of Related Parties Relationship 

 Topco America Inc. (Topco America) Subsdiary 

 Topglow Trading Co., Ltd. (Topglow) 〃 

 Topco Trading (Shanghai Pu-Dong New Area) Co., LTD Subsdiary of Topco America 

 Topco (Guangzhou) Trading Co., LTD. 〃 

 Hong Kong TOPCO Trading Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Top Glory Trading Co., Ltd. (Top Glory) Subsdiary of Topglow 

 PT. Topco Trading Indonesia (PT. Topco) Sub-subsidiary of Topco 

America 

 TOPCO (VIETNAM) TRADING CO., LTD (TOPCO 

VIETNAM) 

Sub-subsidiary of Topco 

America 

 Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. Corporate directors of the 

Company 

 Shin-Etsu Silicone International Trading (Shanghai) Co,. 

Ltd. (Shin-Etsu Shanghai) 

The Company’s corporate 

director, subsidiaries of 

Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. 

 Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. (Shin-Etsu Taiwan) 〃 
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 Name of Related Parties Relationship 

 Shin-Etsu Astech Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Shin-Etsu (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Shin Etsu Polymer Hong Kong Ltd. 〃 

 Shin-Etsu Polymer Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Shin-Etsu Silicones (Thailand), Ltd. 〃 

 Shin-Etsu Singapore Pte Ltd. 〃 

 Chung-shin Limited Company An affiliate 

 Sign Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Kikukawa Metal & Engineering Co., Ltd 〃 

 Mr. Pan, Chen-Cheng Chairperson of the Company 

 Mr. Weng, Chun-Ming Director of the Company 

   

(b) Significant transactions with related parties   

(i) Revenues to related parties 

The amounts of significant sales between the Company and related parties were as 

follows: 
   

For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2018 2017 

 Subsdiaries:   

  Topco Shanghai   $ 200,666   240,132  

  Others  205,966   189,373  

 Other related parties  127,158   86,669  

  $ 533,790   516,174  

    

There is no significant difference in terms and conditions of the sales to associates 

between those provided to third parties. The credit lending period for other related 

parties are 30~120 days, which is not significantly different with the third parties. 
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(ii) Purchases 

The amounts of purchase transaction between the Company and related parties were as 

follows: 
   

For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2018 2017 

 Subsdiaries: $ 27,042   11,205  

 Other related parties       

   Shin-Etsu Taiwan  2,186,782   2,132,822  

   Others  190,175   134,882  

  $ 2,403,999   2,278,909  

    

The Company’s related products of chemical material are mainly purchased from 

other related parties. There are no non-related party purchase prices for comparison. 

The adoption of prepayment or 30~60 days open account during the payment period 

by other related parties, and the payment period is 30~120 days for other suppliers.  

 

(iii) Providing labor to other related parties 
   

For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2018 2017 

 Service income (reported other profits and 
losses): 

  

 Subsdiaries:   

  Topco Hong Kong $ 13,850   13,989  

    

 

(iv) Receivables from related parties 

The details of the amounts due from the sales and services provided by the company 

were as follows: 
  

Account 

Category of Related 

party 

December 

31,2018 

December 

31,2017 

 Notes and accounts receivable Subsdiaries $ 75,172   74,402  

 Notes and accounts receivable Other related parties  33,773   25,754  

 Other receivable  Subsdiary－Topco Hong Kong  3,545   3,455  

   $ 112,490   103,611  
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(v) Payables to related parties 

Payables to related parties were as follows: 
 Account Category of Related 

party 

December 

31,2018 

December 

31,2017 

 Accounts payable  Subsdiaries $ 9,504   2,706  

 Notes and accounts 

payable 

Other related parties:   

 
 

 Shin-Etsu Taiwan  344,303   352,640  

 
 

 Others  9,092   11,436  

 Other payable  Other related parties  1,157   2,251  

   $ 364,056   369,033  
     

(vi) Guarantees 

Guarantees to related parties were as follows: 
   December 

31,2018 

December 

31,2017 

 Subsdiaries $ 245,720   238,080  

    

(vii) Lease expenses  

When the Company rents a garage from other related parties, the rent is decided by the 

market price and paid monthly. For the years ended of December 31 of 2018 and 2017, 

the rent expenses are both $2,880. 

(c) Transaction of major management personnel   

Transactions with key management personnel: 
  For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2018 2017 

 Short-term employee benefits $ 98,141   82,458  

 Post-employment benefit  1,556   1,556  

  $ 99,697   84,014  
    

(8) Pledged assets：None.   

(9) Significant Commitments and Contingencies：None.    

(10) Losses Due to Major Disasters: None.   

(11) Subsequent Events: None.   

(12) Others   

   The employee benefits, depreciation, depletion and amortization expenses categorized by 

function were as follows:   
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 By function For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2018 2017 

  

By item 

Operating 

expenses 
Operating 

expenses 

 Employee benefits   

  Salary $ 276,071   241,686  

  Labor and health insurance  12,417   11,086  

  Pension  4,717   4,408  

  Remuneration of directors  15,000   11,200  

  Others  4,739   4,384  

 Depreciation  1,953   2,383  

 Amortization  639   353  
    

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 , the Company had 122 and 114 employees, and of which 5 

directors were not in concurrent employment, respectively. 

(13) Other disclosures:   

(a) Information on significant transactions   

The following is the information on significant transactions required by the “ Regulations 

Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers” for the Company for 

the year ended December 31, 2018: 

(i) Financing provided：None.   

(ii) Guarantees and endorsements provided:   

 
 

No. 

(Note 1) 

Name of the 

company 

Counter-party of 

guarantee and 

endorsement 

Limits on 

Endorsements

/ guarantee 

amount 

provided to 

each  

guarantee 

party 

Maximum 

Balance for 

the Period 

Ending 

Balance for 

the Period 

Actual 

drawdown 

Property 

pledged on 

guarantees 

and 

endorsement 

Ratio of accumulated 

amounts of guarantees 

and 

endorsements to net 

worth of the latest 

financial statements 

Maximum 

amount for 

guarantees 

and 

endorsements 

Parent 

company 

endorses/ 

guarantees to 

third parties 

on behalf of 

subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

endorses/ 

guarantees to 

third parties 

on behalf of 

parent 

company 

Endorsements/ 

guarantees to 

third parties on 

behalf of 

companies in 

Mainland 

China 

 

 

Name 

 

Relationship 

with the 

Company 

  0  The 

Company  

Topco 

Shanghai  

sub-subsidiary  650,545   123,960   122,860   -   -   3.78%   1,626,364  

(Note2) 

 v   -   v  

  〃   〃  Topco 

Guang 

Zhou  

〃  650,545   123,960   122,860   -   -   3.78%   1,626,364  

(Note 2) 

 v   -   v  

  1  Topglow  

(Note2) 

Top Glory  Subsidiaries  113,610   27,891   27,711   -   -   7.32%   189,350  

(Note 3) 

 v   -   -  

               

Note 1: The Company’s endorsement/guarantee amount limit to a single business shall not exceed 20% of the Company’s net worth in the latest financial 

statements; the total amount of external endorsement/ guarantee shall not exceed 50% of the Company’s net worth in the latest financial 

statements. 
Note 2: Topglow’s total external endorsement/ guarantee amount shall not exceed 50% of the net worth reported in the financial statements; the 

endorsement/ guarantee amount limit to a single business shall not exceed 30% of Topglow’s net worth. 
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(iii) Information regarding securities held at balance sheet date (excluding investment in 

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures):    
 

Name of 

holder 

Category and name of 

security 

Relationship with 

the Company Account title 

Ending balance  

 
Number of 

Shares/ Units Book value 

Percentage of 

shares 

 

Fair value  

 

Note 

 The Company Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. 

(Shin-Etsu Taiwan) 

N/A Noncurrent Financial assets 

at fair value through other 

comprehensive income - 

 1,520   174,177   6.67   174,177   

 〃 Lustrous Technology Ltd. 

(Lustrous Technology) 
〃 〃  854   -   5.83   -   

 〃 Miho International Cosmetic Co., 

Ltd. (Miho International) 
〃 〃  1,445   16,564  

       

 3.38   16,564   

         190,741       

 Topco Hong 

Kong 
HSBC USD Certificate of 

Deposit 
〃 Current financial assets 

evaluated at amortized cost 
 -   35,205  

 

 -   -   

          

(iv) Accumulated buying/selling of the same marketable securities for which the dollar 

amount reaches $300 million or 20% or more of paid-in capital: None. 

(v) Acquisition of real estate for which the dollar amount reaches $300 million or 20% or 

more of paid-in capital : None.    

(vi) Disposition of real estate for which the dollar amount reaches $300 million or 20% or 

more of paid-in capital: None.    

(vii) Buying/selling products with the dollar amount reaches $100 million or 20% or more of 

paid-in capital:     
 Name of 

company 
Name of 

Counter-p

arty 

  

Transaction details Transaction details 

Abnormal 

Transaction 

Notes and accounts 

receivables (payables) 
 

 

 

 

Relationship Purchase

/ Sale 
 

Amount 

Percentage 

of total 

purchases/ 

sales 

 

Credit 

period 

 
Unit price 

 

Credit 

period 

 

 
Balance 

Percentage 

of total 

accounts/ 

notes 

receivable 

(payable) 

Notes 

 The 

Company 
Shin-Etsu 

Taiwan 
The company is a subsidiary of the 

Company’s corporate director, 

Subsidiaries of Shin-Etsu Chemical 

Co., Ltd. 

Purchase 2,186,782 82% Open account 

30~60 days 
Not 

applicable 
Not applicable (344,303) (89) %  

 〃 Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai 
Parent-sub-subsidiary company Sales (200,666) (6) % Open account 

105 days 
〃 〃 50,274 6%  

 Topco 

Shanghai 
The 

Company 
Parent-subsidiary company Purchase 200,666 15% Open account 

60 days 
〃 〃 (50,274) (25) %  

 〃 Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai 
The parent company of Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai is a corporate director of 

the parent company of Topco 

Shanghai. 

Purchase 1,075,864 64% Open account 

30 days 
〃 〃 (104,098) (51) %  

 〃 TopcoGuang 

Zhou 

 

The parent company of Topco 

Shanghai is the same as that of 

Topco Guang Zhou 

Sales (125,239) (6) % Open account 

60 days 
〃 〃 30,308 6%  

 TopcoGuan

g Zhou 

 

Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai 
The parent company of Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai is a corporate director of 

the parent company of Topco Guang 

Zhou 

Purchase 904,449 66% Open account 

30 days 
〃 〃 (79,447) (63) %  

 〃 Topco 

Shanghai 
The parent company of Topco 

Shanghai is the same as that of 

Topco Guang Zhou 

Purchase 125,239 11% Open account 

60 days 
〃 〃 (30,308) (24) %  

 Topco 

Hong Kong 

 

Shin-Etsu 

Hong Kong 
The parent company of Shin-Etsu 

Hong Kong is a corporate director of 

the parent company of Topco Hong 

Kong 

Purchase 354,239 60% Open account 

60 days 
〃 〃 (47,621) (55) %  

 Topglow Topglow 

Shanghai 
Parent-subsidiary company Sales (141,173) (10) % Open account 

120 days 
〃 〃 52,171 17%  

 Topglow 

Shanghai 
Topglow Parent-subsidiary company Purchase 141,173 96% Open account 

120 days 
〃 〃 (52,171) (99) %  

             

(viii) Account receivables from related parties reached $ 100 million or 20% of paid in capitals 

or more: None.    
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(ix) Derivative transactions: Please refer to Note 6 (b) for related information.    

(b) Information on investees：    

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the following is the information on investees 

(excluding investees in Mainland China)： 
Foreign currency unit: in thousand 

 

Name of the 

investor 

Name of 

investee 

 

Major 

operations 

Initial investment 

amount Ending balance 

Net income 

of the 

investees in 

current 

period 

Investment 

income 

recognized 

in current 

period 

 

 

Location 

Ending 

balance 

Beginning 

balance 

Shares (in 

thousands) 

Percentage 

(%) Book value Remarks 

 
The Company 

Topco 

America 

Cayman 

Islands 

Holdings 

overseas 
332,670 332,670 12,260 100 2,107,369  247,381   247,381  

Note 1, 2 

 〃 Topglow Taichung 
Import and 

export trading 
82,258 82,258 9,146 65 247,405  53,100   34,690  

Note 1 

 

Topco 

America 
Topco Hong 

Kong 
Hong Kong 

Merchandising 

business of 

chemical 

material related 

products 

100,131 

(USD3,260) 

97,018 

(USD3,260) 

- 100 537,011      34,501   34,226  

Note 1 

 Topglow Top Glory Belize 
Import and 

export trading 
1,537 1,537 50 100 17,876  522   522  

Note 1 

 

Topco Hong 

Kong PT. Topco Indonesia 

Merchandising 

business of 

chemical 

material related 

products 

30,715 

(USD1,000) 

29,760 

(USD1,000) 

- 100 19,948       1,304    1,304  

Note 1 and 3 

 

〃 
Topco 
Vietnam 

Vietnam 

Merchandising 

business of 

chemical 

material related 

products 

24,572 

(USD800) 

23,808 

(USD800) 

- 100 26,045  7,478  7,478 

Note 1 

             
Note 1: Subsidiaries with controlling power. 

Note 2: Original investment amount includes the reinvestment amount of US$ 800,000 with the cash dividends distributed from Topco Hong Kong. 

Note 3: PT.Topco considers the requirements of Indonesia. The 0.04% shareholding in obtaining PT.Topco’s equity was held with the name of a third 

party. Topco Hong Kong signed a contract with the third party, in which the rights and obligations of the both parties are listed, to protect asset 

safety. 

Note4: The NTD amount in this table is transformed with the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 

(c) Information on investment in Mainland China:   

(i) Related information of the business invested in Mainland China:   
Foreign currency unit: in thousand 

 

Name of the 

investee in 

Mainland China 

 

Major 

operations 

Paid-in 

capital 

Investment 

method 

Cumulative 

investment 

amount from 

Taiwan in 

the beginning 

of the period 

Current 

remittance/ 

recoverable 

investment 

(amount) 

Ending 

remittance 

balance - 

Cumulative 

investment 

(amount) from 

Taiwan 

 

Net income 

(loss) of the 

investee 

Shareholding 

ratio directly 

or indirectly 

held by the 

Company 

Investment gain 

(loss) recognized 

in the current 

period (Note 2) 

Book value 

of investment 

at end of the 

period 

Accumulated 

Inward 

Remittance 

of Earnings 

 Remittance 

amount 

Recoverable 

amount 

Remittance 

amount 

Recoverable 

amount 

 Topco Shanghai Merchandising 

business of 

chemical 

material related 

products 

     198,413  

(USD6,500) 

(Note 4) 

Note 1  113,646

 (USD3,700) 

 -   -   113,646  

(USD3,700) 

 112,487  

(USD3,731) 

 100 %  111,522

 (USD3,699) 

 788,945

 (USD25,686) 

 -  

 Topco Guang Zhou 〃      198,413  

(USD6,500) 

(Note 5) 

〃  113,646

 (USD3,700) 

 -   -   113,646  

(USD3,700) 

 102,748  

(USD3,408) 

 100 %  101,633

 (USD3,371) 

 789,222

 (USD25,695) 

 -  

 Topglow Shanghai Import and 

export trading 
14,770  Note 6  -   -   -   14,770   403   65 %  403   12,668   -  

              

Note 1：Direct investment in Mainland China with remittance through a third region. 

Note 2：Recorded per audited financial statements of the investees. 

Note 3：The NTD amount in this table is transformed with the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 

Note 4：Includes the capitalization of retained earnings of USD2,000,000 and the reinvestment of the stock dividends of USD800,000 distributed by 

Topco Hong Kong (in Hong Kong area) via the third region investment business, Topco America. 

Note 5：Includes the capitalization of retained earnings of USD2,000,000 and the reinvestment of the stock dividends of USD800,000 distributed by 

Topco Hong Kong (in Hong Kong area) via the third region investment business, Topco America.  

Note 6：The investee company of Topglow established with its own funds. 
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(ii) Limitation on investment in Mainland China:    
 

 

Accumulated balance from Taiwan 

to 

Mainland China 

Approved investment amount by 

Ministry of Economic Affairs 

Investment Commission 

Limitation on investment in 

Mainland China in accordance 

with regulations of Ministry of 

Economic Affairs Investment 

Commission 

 242,649 
(USD 7,900,000) 

614,300 
 (USD 10,000,000) (Note 2) 

1,951,636 

    

Note 1:The NTD amount in this table is transformed with the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 

Note 2: Includes the reinvestment of the stock dividends distributed by Topco Hong Kong (in Hong Kong area) via the third region investment 

business, Topco America. The amount for the subsidiary of subsidiary in Mainland China is USD 1,600,000. 

(iii) Significant transactions:     

The significant inter-company transactions with the subsidiary in Mainland China, 

which were eliminated in the preparation of consolidated financial statements, are 

disclosed in “Information on significant transactions” 

(14) Segment Information   

Please refer to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,2018 . 
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 TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION   

  Statement of Cash and Cash Equivalents   

 December 31,2018 Unit：NTD/foreign 

currencies in thousand 

Term deposits   

   

Item Description Amount 

Petty cash and cash on 

hand 

 $ 290  

Demand and check 

deposits 

Demand and check deposits  306,073  

 
Foreign currency deposits(USD 2,112,HKD 225 and JPY 304) 

 65,830  

  $ 372,193  

Note：The ending rate of balance sheet date as follows: 

USD：30.715 

HKD：3.921 

JPY：0.2782 

   

   

   

 
 Statement of Notes and Accounts Receivable   

   

   

Clients Description Amount 

InnoLux Corporation Sales revenue of non-related parties 
$ 58,060  

Jabil Green Point 〃  51,532  

TQA E&I Taiwan Co., LTD. 〃  39,284  

Others(less than 5%) 〃  563,319  

   712,195  

Less：loss alloeance 
  (365)  

Net of notes and accounts receivable 
 $ 711,830  
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 TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION   

 
 Statement of Inventory   

 
December 31,2018 Unit：NTD in thousand 

   

   

 Amount 

Item Amount Net realizable value 
        Products $ 235,423          307,583 

 

   

   

   

 
Statement of Movement of Property, 

plant and equipment 

 

 
For the year ended Decemcer 31,2018  

   

   

Please refer to Note6(i). 
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 TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION   

 
Statement of Movement of Investments Accounted 

for Using Equity Method 

 

 
For the year ended Decemcer 31,2018 Unit：NTD / shares in thousand  

   

   

 

 

 

Begnining Balance 

 

 

 Increase 

 

 

Decrease(Note1)   

 

 

Ending Balance  
 

 

Names of 

Investees Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount 

Investment 

Income 

Unrealized 

gain from 

inter-affiliate 

accounts  

Cummulative 

transaction 

adjustment Shares 

Percentage 

of 

ownership Amount 

Nets 

Assets 

Value Collateral 

Topco 

America  12,260  $ 1,880,175   -   -   -   -   247,381   (608)   (19,579)   12,260   100%   2,107,369   2,115,180  None 

Topglow  9,146   244,496   -   -   -   (32,011)   34,690   -   230   9,146   65%   247,405   247,404  〃 

  $ 2,124,671    -    (32,011)   282,071   (608)   (19,349)     2,354,774   2,362,584   

Note1：Cash dividend distributed. 
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 TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION   

 
Statement of Movement of Financial Asstes at Fair Value through Other 

Comprehensive Income-Non Current 

 

 
For the year ended Decemcer 31,2018 Unit：NTD in thousand 

   

   

 Begnining Balance Increase Decrease Ending Balance  

Name Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Collateral 

Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. 
 1,520  $ 155,496   -   18,681   -   -   1,520   174,177  None 

Lustrous Technology Ltd. 
 854   -   -   -   -   -   854   -  〃 

Miho International Cosmetic 
Co., Ltd  1,445   18,689   -     -   -        2,125  1,445   16,564  〃 

  $ 174,185        18,681        2,125    190,741   
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 TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION   

 
Statement of Notes Payable  

 
December 31,2018 Unit：NTD in thousand 

   

   

Item Description Amount 

Sika Taiwan Ltd. Operatin expense of non-related 

parties 

$ 3,558  

ELEMATEC TAIWAN CORPORATION 〃  2,773  

JING FONG APPLIED MATERIAL CO., LTD 〃  1,816  

Yongfong CORPORATION 〃  1,497  

Others(less than 5%) 〃  16,287  

  $ 25,931  

 

   

   

   

 
 Statement of Other Current Liabilities  

   

   

Item Description Amount 

Accrued Salaries and Bonuses 
 $ 220,705  

Accrued compensation of employees 

and Directors 

  60,000  

Others(less than 5%) Export expense and  employee benefits 

lisbilites  

 12,614  

  $ 293,319  
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 TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION   

 
 Statement of Sales   

 
For the year ended Decemcer 31,2018 Unit：NTD in thousand 

   

   

Item Quantity Amount 

Chemical Materials  14,079,208  $ 3,378,359  

Less：Sales Return 
 

 (1,667)  

    Allowance for Sale   
 (581)  

Net of Sales Revenue  
$ 3,376,111  

   

   

   

 
 Statement of Operating Costs   

   

   

 Item   Amount   

Beging balance of Inventory $ 184,111  

Add：Purchase  2,708,888  

Less：Ending balance of Inventory  (238,511)  

  Transferred  (5,184)  

Cost of goods sold  2,649,304  

Other operating cost  2,528  

Loss on valuation of Inventory  1,143  

Inventory profit or loss  128  

Cost of goods sold $ 2,653,103  
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 TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION   

 
 Statement of Operating Expense   

 
For the year ended Decemcer 31,2018 Unit：NTD in thousand 

   

   

 Item  Selling Expense Administrative expenses 

Salary Expense $ 153,810   141,978  

Freight  12,822   54  

Rent expense  12,049   4,428  

Others(less than 5%)  74,424   84,439  

Total $ 253,105   230,899  

 
 

 

 

 

 


